AL INAL y " g’;a- x
+ COURT & [

ITY OF NEWORK

TRT FT
e 4

5

1=AN | EGAL
mzolll AID

s==mll SOCIETY

MAKING THE CASE FOR HUMANITY



As of 10/1/14

Daniel Abdul-Malak, Nicole Abene, Charlene Abney, Carmela Ackman, Benjie Acunis, Quisquella Addison, Daniel Ades, Toyin Adesina, Fatemeh AdIparvar, David Affler, Shailly Agnihotri, Ashley Agosto, Gabriella
Agranat-Getz, Felicia Agyapong, Bina Ahmad, Noor Ahmad, Zachary Ahmad, Sadia Ahmed, Zohra Ahmed, Greta Aiken, Gregory Ajose, Diane Akerman, Akintunde Akinjiola, Carlos Alameda, Fatima Albaine, Natalie
Albert, Elisa Albo, George Albro, Michael Alcarese, Myra Alcarese, Elizabeth Alcocer-Gonzalez, Rita Alejandro, Anju Alexander, Jean Alexandre, Gary Alexion, Ronald Alfano, Marianne Allegro, Zoe Allen, Aisha Alleyne,
Chevelle Allison-McIntosh, Juan Alonzo, Cristina Alvarez, Carla Alvarez-Gould, Deepa Ambekar, Nassim Ameli, Brett Amelkin, Adjaratu Aminu, Sara Amri, Sharon Anderson, Tareek Anderson, Melinda Andra, Cheryl
Andrada, Pamela Andrescavage, Kaitlin Andrews, Casey Anis, Nefertiti Ankra, Jojo Annobil, Carmine Annunziato, Bahar Ansari, Kenneth Ansley, Odessa Antoine, Christina Antonetti, Ruth Appadoo-Johnson, Christine
Appah, Rigodis Appling, Noha Arafa, Rumzi Araj, Rebecca Arian, Jimmy Arias, Jonathan Arias, Jacqueline Aristy, Tarini Arogyaswamy, Marisol Arriaga, Jessica Arroyo, William Artus, Daniel Ashworth, Richard Asphall,
Edward Auffant, Lynda Augente, Quincy Auger, Germaine Auguste, Schency Augustin, Manpreet Aujla, Garrett Austin, Elenor Austrie, Alan Axelrod, Jose Ayala, Justine Ayala, Maria Ayora, Shahar Azoulay, Jaime
Badia, Leslie Baez, Susan Bahn, Agnes Baik, Percival Bailey, Lejla Bajrami, Allison Baker, Japheth Baker, Crystal Baker-Burr, Michael Baldwin, Vanda Ballard, Kelly Ballinger, Melissa Ballowe, Sunita Balwant, Marla
Band, Asya Bangiyeva, Erin Bannister, Michael Baptiste, Priscilla Barbot, Chennette Barreto, Eric Barreto, Chrishina Barrett, Elizabeth Barroso, Kellsie Barton, Jessica Bash, Bibechana Basnet, Patricia Bath, Brian
Baum, Howard Baum, Paula Baum, Magdalena Bauza, Carlos Baxter, Lizzie-Anne Beal, Raymond Beauchamp, Sakeena Beaulieu, Patricia Becerril, Marc Beck, Faith Bekermus, Lara Belkin, Christine Bella, Valerie
Bell-Bey, Franklin Belle, Jessica Bellinder, Bernard Bellinger, Ruthlyn Belnavis, Matthew Belz, Elizabeth Bender, Joshua Benjamin, Fredric Bennett, Stephen Bennett, Timothy Bennett, Michelle Benoit, Judyann
Bentick, Victoria Benton, Allison Berger, Mark Berger, Rachel Berger, Juan Beritan, Steven Berko, Jeffrey Berman, Jerrold Berman, Simone Berman-Rossi, James Bernal, Athena Bernkopf, Andrew Bernstein, Lillian
Berrios, Rebecca Besdin, Toni Beshara, Michael Bethoney, Pavel Beyder, Robert Bickel, Charles Billups, Nicole Bingham, Carly Bisceglie, Gina Bisogna, Bridgette Bissonnette, Elizabeth Black, Rachel Black, Charles
Blakeley, Faith Bland, Jennifer Blasser, David Blondell, Evan Bloom, Jeffrey Bloom, Evanjeline Blue, Richard Blum, Joshua Blumenfeld, Jane Bock, Sarah Bodack, Marlen Bodden, Richard Bodrick, Silvana Boggia,
Anna Boksenbaum, Meghan Boland, Thomas Bomba, Nicholas Bonham, Bonnie Bonica, David Boone, Robert Bornstein, Moshe Borukh, Markus Borus, David Bosler, John Boston, Heidi Bota, David Botwin, Sara
Bovill, Eugene Bowen, Norah Bowler, Maisha Bowley, Laura Boyd, Precious Boyd, Katherine Bradley, Adrienne Branch, Joni Brandon, Jenny Braun Friedman, Edward Braunstein, Jessica Braverman, Bonnie Brennan,
Kathleen Brennan, Suroujlal Bridgelal, Jennifer Brillante-Weaver, Mitchell Briskey, Heather Bristol, Kissa Broadie, Leslie Brody, Nicole Bromberg, J Brooks, William Brosh, Bailee Brown, Douglas Brown, Georgina
Brown, Lisa Brown, Malia Brown, Marva Brown, Terrance Brown, Danielle Browne, Gretchen Brownscheidle, Julia Brownstein, Kristin Bruan, Aishah Bruno, Marjorie Bryson, Marvyn Bryson, Carla Buchanan, Katherine
Buckel, Arthur Buckley, Rosemary Buckmon, Robert Budner, Desiree Buenzle, Laura Bull,

Roulston Bumbury, Felicia Bunbury, Vanessa Burdick, Benjamin Burger, Kelsey Burgess,

Regina Burgio, Carmen Burgos, Alison Burke, Julia Burke, Kyla Burke-Lazarus, Jamaal

1,100 Of the brlghtest Iegal mlnds Burnside, Thomas Burrows, Katherine Burton, Helene Busby, Barbara Byrne, Johan
. . . o Byssainthe, Janera Caba, Luis Caballero, Tiffany Caban, Ray Cabranes, Mario Cabrera, Yissel

Work W’th 700 SOC'aI WorkerS, ’nvest’gatars, Cabrera, Karen Cacace, Shalena Caesar-Williams, Genevieve Cahill, Nathan Cahn, Heidi Cain,
o o o Kristen Calabrese, Elisabeth Calcaterra, Reinaldo Calderon, loana Calin, Anne Callagy, Glenda

paralegals and Support and admmlStI'atIVe Staﬂ Callender, James Calvin, Courtney Camp, Sonia Cancel, Alan Canner, Catherine Carbonaro,

Matthew Caretto, Anna Carlsen, Helena Carmona, William Carney, Briana Carp, Caitlyn

Carpenter, Hensley Carrasco, Christian Carrillo, Joshua Carrin, Mae Carrington, Roger Carrion,

Nora S.C. Carroll, Ashley Carter, Carol Carter, Bernette Carway-Spruiell, Olivia Cassin, Iris
Castellanos, Victor Castelli, Alexa Cato, Teresa Caturano, Nancy Cavaluzzi, Ana Cecilio, Yohance Celestine, Gordon Cen, Dylan Cerbini, Ferdinand Cesarano, Iskuhi Chakarian, Zachary Chaltiel, Cara Chambers, Lorna
Chan, Paul Chander, Hiram Chaparro, Juan Charbonier, Denise Chardon, Richard Charney, Jonathan Chasan, Susan Chase, Abida Chaudhry, Steven Chavez, Jonathan Chazen, Shirley Chen, Hung Kong Cheng, Wai-
Hong Cheng, Phyllis Cherebin, Vanessa Cherena, Hillary Chernow, Andrea Cherry, Jenny Cheung, Rebecca Chevalier, Toe-Fun Chia, Mourad Chiadmi, Danita Chiles, Samuel Chiszar, Maria Chiu, Hye Jun Cho, Suehyan
Cho, Nora Christenson, James Chubinsky, Jasmina Chuck, Javier Chuck, Erica Cioffero, Chynna Clark, David Clarke, Gregory Clarke, Kimar Clarke, Lance Clarke, Lucinda Clarke, Nichole Clarke, Thomas Cleary, Susan
Clement, Vilma Clerge, Adrian Clevenot, Kendall Clifford, Samantha Clifford, Kawan Clinton, Bryan Coakley, Caitrin Coccoma, Darrell Coco, Bobby Codjoe, Antonia Codling, Thomas Coffey, Ashley Cohen, Christina
Cohen, Dana Cohen, Danielle Cohen, Emily Cohen, Katrina Cohen, Laura Cohen, Matthew Cohen, Jennifer Cohn, Hannah Colbert, Patricia Colella, Anthony Coleman, Carolyn Coleman, Gregory Coleman, Rebekah
Coleman, Pamela Colledge, Tara Collins, Esperanza Colon, George Colon, Maria Colon, Joann Colon-Cimino, Johari Commodore, Irena Como, Carlo Concha-Zea, Kalle Condliffe, David Conn, Cynthia Conti-Cook, Justin
Contratto, Claudia Conway, Felton Cooper, Jayne Cooper, Virginia Cora, Marisol Cordero, Melissa Cordero, Stephanie Cordero, Shelley Correy, Alyssa Cose-Primus, Jona Cosio, Jacqueline Cosse, Antoinette Costanzo,
Aiden Cotter, Jose Cotto, William Cotto, Joyce Couvares, Stephen Coyne, Jessica Crafton, Russell Crane, Daniela Crespo, Susan Crile, Edward Cripps, Amy Cross, Ellen Crotty, David Crow, Victor Cruz, Juanita Cruz-
Cataquet, Gaynor Cunningham, Meghan Cuomo, Lauren Curatolo, Seth Curkin, Thomas Curtis, Marjan Daftary, Amy Dallas, Casey Dalporto, Patricia Dana, Michael D'Angelis, Asmika Dangol, Olayinka Dan-Salami,
Dawn Dapelo, Erin Darcy, Alaina Dartt, Kwesi Dash, Nicki Davey, Dilsa David, Jacques David, Ellen Davidson, Jeremy Davidson, Preeti Davidson, Terence Davidson, Edgar Davila, Nora Davila, Sarah Davis 0'Brien,
Christopher Davis, Patricia Davis, Sol Davis, Yasmin Davis, Teresa De Fonso, Adrian De Gennaro, Jason De Jesus, Melissa De Jesus, Nelson De Jesus, Susanna De La Pava, Khadine De Paiva, Caterina De Peralta, Keita
De Souza, Katherine De Zengotita, Jacqueline Deane, Warren Deans, Deborah Dearth, Aurore DeCarlo, Natalie Deduke, Gerard Deenihan, Vida DeGuzman, Lina Del Plato, Carmen Del Valle, Benjamin Dell, Mark
DellAquila, Jeffrey Dellheim, Christine Dell'isloa-Ruggiero, Rostislav Denisov, Lonette Dennard-Williams, Hazel Dennis, George Depountis, Robert Desir, Godline Deterville, Emily Di Biase, Richard Di Marco, Deborah
Diamant, Jesse Diamond, Lino Diaz, Noelle Diaz, Patricia Diaz, Yonoris Diaz, Ada DiCarlo, Laurel Dick, Jill Dickinson, Claudia Diez, Yvonne Dillard, Ellen Dille, Michael Diller, Nicole DiLorenzo, Viktors Dindzans, Femi
Disu, Anton Ditchev, Vernon Dixon, Zamira Djabarova, Lucretia Dobson, Sarah Dolan, Natalya Dolub, Jacqueline Dombroff, Michelle Domena, Madeline Domenech, Christina Dominguez, Mary Donahue, Lisa Donchak,
Jesse Dong, Lauren Donnelly, Amy Donner, Francis Donovan, Melodie Donovan, Zachary Dorado, Nicole D'0razio, Patricia Dornelles, Cassandra Dorvil, Felicia Douglas, Kisha Douglas, Hilary Dowling, Dexya Doyle,
Joseph Doyle, Graham Drake, Hari Drayton, Brooke Drew, Christopher Drury, Michael Dubin, Shavonn DuBois, Jacqueline Duboulay, Monica Dula, Michelle Duprey, Marisol Duran, Corinne Duym, Jacek Dziembaj,
LeShawn Earl, Tristan-Paul Eastman, Susanna Eckblad, Susan Edelstein, Alanda Edwards, Lisa Edwards, Nyocia Edwards, Marcia Egger, Felicia Ehrlich, Andrew Eibel, Mia Eisner-Grynberg, Stephen Ekblom, Kerry
Elgarten, Ashley Ellick, Whitney Elliott, Tristan Ellis, Julia Elmaleh-Sachs, Amy Elmgren, Claudia Emanuel, Theresa Emeterio, Elizabeth Emmons, James Ende, Kenneth Eng, Susan Epstein, Ti-Jay Erikson, Robert
Erlenbusch, Jana Ertrachter, Brian Escaravage, Lourdes Escobar, Cristian Espinal, Mitchell Paolo Esteller, Rudolph Estrada, Belinda Etienne, Christopher Evans, Susanna Evarts, Jillaine Evraets, Dwan Ewell, Charlotte
Fabiani, Denise Fabiano, Allen Fallek, Tara Famularo-Del Bianco, Karen Faraguna, Allen Farbman, Anthony Farley, Emily Farquharson, Lisa Farray, Trelinda Farrer, Briana Fedele, Elysia Fedorazyk, Elysia Fedorczyk,
Amy Feinman, Martin Feinman, Elizabeth Felber, Jeremy Feld, Mary Feliciano, Danielle Feman, Harold Ferguson, Sheilah Fernandez, Joan Ferng, Ana Ferrin, Ashley Fertig, Michael Fichera, Craig Fielding, Leanne
Fields, Stephanie Fields, Edna Figueroa, Michael Figura, Japel Filiaci, Marisa Filupeit, Andrew Fine, Oscar Finkel, Kenneth Finkelman, Cheryl Fisher, Genesis Fisher, Katherine Fitzer, Andrea Fiume, Phillip Fleary,
Rachel Fleder, Golda Fleischman, Vallyn Fleming, Vera Fletcher, Caleb Fleurant, Monique Fleury-Brown, Elisa Flight, Husein Flight, Caitlin Flood, Aaron Flores, Diana Flores, Doris Flores, Josephine Flores, Richard
Flores, Yvonne Floyd-Mayers, Erin Flynn, Megan Foley, Edna Fonfrias, Zoraida Fontanez, Kashif Forbes, Andrew Ford, Jacqueline Ford, Hamilton Forde, Jasmine Foreman, Janet Forrester, Kimberly Forte, Izel Fortunato,
Ebette Fortune, Natasha Fortune, Omar Fortune, Kwadwo Fosu, Caleb Fountain, Allan Fox, Jane Fox, Michelle Fox, Norma Frade, Grover Francis, Emily Frank, Robin Frankel, Melinda Fraser, Diane Fraticelly, Angel
Frau, Demetra Frazier, Daniel Fred, Jeremy Fredericksen, Lisa Freeman, Diego Freire, Monique Frempong-Manso, Samantha Fried, Helen Frieder, 0da Friedheim, Alan Friedman, Bruce Friedman, David Friedman,
Melissa Friedman, Susan Friedman, David Fritz, Catherine Frizell, Julie Fry, George Gabriel, Frances Gallagher, Mona Gambardella, Debra Gambella, Alyssa Gamliel, Rachel Ganani, Adrienne Gantt, Lillian Gantt,
Margaret Garber-Steinberg, Belkys Garcia, Diana Garcia, Felipe Garcia, Harinda Garcia, Kristine Garcia, Laureen Garcia, Maria Garcia, Omar Garcia, Jonathan Garelick, Melvin Garlick, Margaret Garrett, Jacob Gash,
Sekeena Gavagan, Matthew Gay, Findayawah Gbollie, Nada Geha, Emily Gell, Gail Geltman, Elizabeth Genatowski, Ulex George, Diego Gerardi, Logan Germick, Debbora Gerressu, Dawit Getachew, Samuel Getz,
Ronjon Ghosh, Christina Giardino, Francis Gibbons, Michael Gibbons, William Gibney, Danielle Gill, Sarah Gillman, Ji'vonne Gilmore, Nancy Ginsburg, Ernest Giordani, Monica Givens, Tamara Giwa, Hannah Gladstein,
Caroline Glickler, Charles Glover, Michael Gluck, Steven Godeski, John Godfrey, Keisha Godfrey, Clara Goetz, Lily Goetz, Benjamin Gold, Emily Goldberg, Bonnie Goldburg, Steven Golden, Joshua Goldfein, Judith
Goldiner, Jenna Goldman, Ariella Goldstein, Cathy Goldstein, Dana Goldstein, Jessica Goldthwaite, Samuel Golland, Anastasia Golodova, Chandra Gomes, Clarissa Gomez, Michael Gompers, Aurea Gonzalez, Eva
Gonzalez, Rolando Gonzalez, Andrew Goodman, Emma Goodman, Jaclyn Goodman, Robin Gordon Leavitt, Alan Gordon, Derick Gordon, Ramona Gordon, Tiffany Gordon, Martin Gorfinkel, Emily Gosselin, Shilpy
Goswami, Maxwell Gould, Charles Goulding, Vincent Graci, Candace Graff, Holly Graham, Maya Graham, Ricardo Granderson, Anthony Graniere, Herbert Grant, Edward Graves, James Graves, Donald Gray, Justin
Gray, Katiuscia Gray, Jerome Greco, Andrew Green, Donella Green, Marshall Green, Russell Green, Daniel Greenbaum, Katherine Greenberg, Naima Gregory, Laura Gretz, Catherine Griffin, Nadine Griffin, Shannon
Griffin, Pamela Griffith, Seth Gross, Leah Grossi, Gerald Grossman, Olivia Grosvenor, Sara Gruen, Nidia Guadalupe, Ana Guerrero, Saly Guirguis, Nailah Gumbs-Fahie, Emma Gunderson, Laurence Gurwitch, Karen
Gutheil, Laura Guthrie, Phillip Guttmann, Donna Haase, Joshua Hadas, Jason Hadley, Melissa Hafenbrack, Michael Haidas, Taj Haider, William Hair, Juliette-Noor Haji, Alexandra Hakim, Hanifa Hakim-EL, Reginald
Haley, Coleen Hall, Janeen Hall, Brigitte Hamadey, Karen Hamberlin, Karen Hambrick, Barbara Hamilton, Michael Harding, Katherine Hardy, Kathleen Hardy, Robert Harold, Elon Harpaz, Chelice Harris, Davina
Harris, Judith Harris, Paul Harris, Alissa Harrison, Caitlin Harrison, Lisa Hart, Peter Hart, Jacqualine Hartley, Mary Harvey, Jo-Ann Hassan, Adam Hassuk, Allison Haupt, Michele Hauser, Amy Hausknecht, Lawrence
Hausman, Roger Hawke, Matthew Hawkins, Wanjuri Hawkins, Elizabeth Hay, Henry Hayden, Yonati Haymov, Renee Haynes, Nailah Haywood, Robert Haywood, Lauren Headley, Christopher Healy, Mattie Heath,
Kathryn Heeke, Robert Heilbrun, Alexandra Heinegg, Rebecca Heinsen, Lester Helfman, Charles Henderson, Donna Henken, James Henning, Kathryn Hensley, Alba Hernandez, Ariel Hernandez, Luis Hernandez,
Latoya Herring, Lucy Herschel, Nikki Herst-Cook, Adam Heyman, Elizabeth Hibbard, Michael Higgins, Eric Hildebrand, Anne Hill, Angela Hines, Shazzia Hines, Kevin Hinkson, John Hirsch, Barbara Ho, Yvonne Hobbs,
Carol Hochberg, Beth Hofmeister, Adriene Holder, Erica Holder, Bridgett Holloman, Jacqueline Holmes, Linda Holmes, Deno Holness, Alison Holstein, Amy Hong, Arthur Hopkirk, Davim Horowitz, Gwyneth Horton,
Susan Horwitz, Imtiaz Hossain, Samuel Howell, Charmaine Hoyte, Iris Hsiao, Daniel Hsiung, Caroline Hsu, Yvonne Huaringa, Dorothy Hubbard, Kate Huber, Christopher Hudson, Nyiesha Hudson, Clinton Hughes,
Kevin Hughes, Adira Hulkower, Michael Hurson, Katharine Hussung, Vaneskha Hyacinthe, William Hyland, David Hymen, Jenna Hymowitz, Andrea Ibrahim, Marwa Ibrahim, Tiffany Ifill, Amanda Ingle, Natasha
Ingram, Vivian Intermont, Charles Ippolito, Yolanda Irizarry, Svetlana Isakov, Kenneth Ives, Rebecca Ivry, Richard Jack, Bernadette Jackson, Chavette Jackson, Lois Jackson, Rosemarie Jackson, Michelle Jacobs, Rosa
Jaffe, Kesha Jagdeo, Lynda Jahn, Maria Jamart, Anika James, Seymour James, Taylor James, Jane Jankie, Christina Jeffery, Patricia Jeffery, Delise Jeffrey, Randy Jerez, Kam Jim, Gisell Jimenez, Sunny Jo, Clyde Johnson,
Jamal Johnson, Kendea Johnson, Marquita Johnson, Nadine Johnson, Nesta Johnson, Surraya Johnson, Tajuana Johnson, Thomas Johnson, Travis Johnson, Gregory Johnston, Sarah Johnston, Annette Jones, Damon
Jones, Danielle Jones, Kimberly Jones, Lasalle Jones, Peter Jones, Robert Jones, Willie Jones, Kelsey Jorgensen, Richard Joselson, Gina Joseph, Satish Joseph, Maria Joza, Jerra Juliano, Afeisha Julien, Steven Jurash,
Siri Kagan, Douglas Kahan, Shannon Kahle, Maria Kaidas, Maryanne Kaishian, Karen Kalikow, John Kalinowski, Anna Kalliagas, Carolyn Kalos, Eleni Kamisakis, James Kampil, Melissa Kanas, Sandeep Kandhari,
Emily Kane, Mijin Kang, Benjamin Kanstroom, Aylese Kanze, Emily Kaplan, Hannah Kaplan, Jan Kaplan, Kathryn Kaplan, Melissa Kaplan, Stephanie Kaplan, Diana Kaplen, David Kapner, Carmel Kappus, Ashley
Karam, Robin Karasyk, Zachary Karlan, Thalia Karny, Sheryl Karp, Judith Karpatkin, Daniel Karran, Dena Kasendorf, Andrew Katz, Mitchell Katz, Lauren Katzman, Rebecca Kavanagh, Noel Keating, Keith Keith,
Kathleen Kelleher, Maureen Kelleher, Brian Kelly, Diane Kelly, Meagan Kelly, Timothy Kelly, Tina Kemp-Bland, Maryann Kenney, Melvin Kenny, Sarah Kerr, Eve Kessler, Lucas Kessler, Kawsar Khan, Sabina Khan,
Saleem Khan, Urooj Khan, Afsane Khot, Marta Kiliman, Mary Kim, Mihea Kim, Thomas Kim, Emily Kimball Murphy, Aisha King, William Kirkland, Doreen Kirwan, Emily Kitay, Jessica Kitzman, Benjamin Klein,



n-ol

=
THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Proudly serving New Yorkers
in all five boroughs of New York City.

a law firm for poor New Yorkers. It is an indispensable component of the legal, social,

and economic fabric of New York City — passionately advocating for low-income
individuals and families across a variety of civil, criminal and juvenile rights matters, while
also fighting for legal reform.

The nation’s oldest and largest not-for-profit legal services organization, is more than

The Legal Aid Society has performed this role in City, State and federal courts since 1876. It
does so by capitalizing on the diverse expertise, experience, and capabilities of more than
1,700 of the brightest legal minds. These Legal Aid Society lawyers work with more than 700
social workers, investigators, paralegals and support and administrative staff. Through a
network of borough, neighborhood, and courthouse offices in 26 locations in New York City,
the Society provides comprehensive legal services in all five boroughs of New York City for
clients who cannot afford to pay for private counsel. The Society’s legal program operates
three major practices — Civil, Criminal and Juvenile Rights —and receives volunteer help from
law firms, corporate law departments and expert consultants that is coordinated by the
Society’s Pro Bono program. Annually, the Society handles more than 310,000 cases and
legal matters for clients with civil, criminal, and juvenile rights problems. The Legal Aid
Society takes on more cases for more clients than any other legal services organization in
the United States. And it brings a depth and breadth of perspective that is unmatched in
the legal profession.

The Legal Aid Society’s unique value is an ability to go beyond any one case to create more
equitable outcomes for individuals and broader, more powerful systemic change for society
as a whole. In addition to the annual caseload of 310,000 individual cases and legal matters,
the Society’s law reform work benefits some two million low-income families and individuals
in New York City and the landmark rulings in many of these cases have a Statewide and
national impact.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY



REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON

has been an exciting year for The Legal
Aid Society, filled with success, change,
challenge, and promise for the future.

InJuly, Seymour W.James,Jr,an internationally recognized expert
in criminal justice who headed the Criminal Practice for 10 years,
was appointed the Attorney-in-Chief of The Legal Aid Society by
a unanimous vote of the Board of Directors. Seymour,a former
President of the New York State Bar Association, has devoted his
entire legal career of 40 years to ensuring that poor New Yorkers
receive high quality representation.

The Legal Aid Society recognizes that to fulfill its mission
of serving our City's most needy it must also be
financially strong. | take great pride in reporting that although
we will always need to confront fiscal challenges, we have
balanced budgets in all three Practices and the Society as a whole.
At the same time we are continually striving to expand our ability
tomeet the still all too great-unmet demand for legal services for
those who cannot afford legal counsel.

We are grateful for the financial support we receive
from our Sustaining Law Firms, individuals and
institutions (beginning on page 26) as well as the City
and State. In recent years a true lifesaver has been the
financial support for civil legal services provided in the
Chief Judge’s budget. We work very hard to continue
to earn the support, trust and confidence of all of our
funders. We are constantly faced with the challenge of
securing adequate resources for important programs
that are essential for our clients. We are grateful to our
Sustaining Law Firms who sustain the work of the Civil
Practice by contributing at the leadership level of $600 per lawyer
in their New York offices and supporting our annual Servant of
Justice Dinner. The major law firms also support the work of the
Society through our extensive Pro Bono Practice under the
guidance of Lou Sartori (page 25). On October 8, Chief Judge
Jonathan Lippman presented awards at the Society’s annual Pro
Bono Publico Awards ceremony in recognition of the outstanding
contributions made by lawyers and law firms to the cause of equal
access to justice for all New Yorkers.

In March, when Steven Banks announced that he would leave
Legal Aid to accept the position of Commissioner of the City’s
Human Resources Administration, the Board of Directors
authorized me to appoint a Search Committee to conduct a
search for internal as well as external candidates and make a
recommendation for the appointment of a new Attorney-in-
Chief. The Board was confident that with our strong leadership
team and dedicated and talented staff, the Society was well
positioned for the future. In the interim, Fin Fogg, our President,
and | pledged to take a more active role at the Society until a new
Attorney-in-Chief was on board.

The search process began by reaching out to nearly 500 people
for their thoughts on applicants because we were looking for
someone who demonstrated commitment to the mission, who
was a strong leader,who was respected in the justice systemand
the legal ommunity and someone who we thought could be an
effective manager and fiscally responsible. After a three-month
search process in which we were blessed with a number of highly
qualified applicants, the Search Committee and the Board of
Directors concluded that Seymour was the best person to be the
new leader of the Society. There was no question of his
commitment to the mission of the Society and his qualifications
for the job. He is highly respected both inside and outside the
organization.Read his impressive resume http://bit.ly/1sakokN.

Special thanks to the Search Committee. In addition to Fin and
myself, members included: Tracy Richelle High, a Board member
and partner at Sullivan & Cromwell LLP; Alan Levine, a Board
member and partner at Cooley LLP and a former Chair of the
Board; Pamela Miller,a Board member and partner at Arnold &
Porter LLP; Bradley I. Ruskin, a Board member and partner at
Proskauer Rose LLP; Deborah L. Wright, Esq. President, UAW Local
2325 - Association of Legal Aid Attorneys (AFL-CIO); Neva
Shillingford, Executive Vice President, 1199 SEIU; Jojo Annobil,
Attorney-in-Charge of the Immigration Law Unit of the Civil
Practice; Dawne Mitchell, Attorney-in-Charge of the Bronx office
of the Juvenile Right Practice;and Christopher Pisciotta, Attorney-
in-Charge of the Staten Island office of the Criminal Practice.
Special mention must be made of Fin Fogg who has devoted
himselftoThe Legal Aid Society. Fin has not only changed the face
of fund raising at The Legal Aid Society, but also has provided
guidance and direction in the administration of the organization
with his energy, his enthusiasm and sense of humor.

Our Directors are drawn from the most prominent
law firms and corporate law departments in the
nation. They unselfishly share their wisdom and
knowledge. Special thanks to the Chairs of Board
Committees, including Charles Weinstein, Audit;
Douglas F. Curtis, Finance and Investment; Mark P.
Goodman, Retirement and Benefits; Mel M.
Immergut and Thomas Cerabino, Nominating and
Governance; Daniel F. Kolb, Development; Bradley I.
Ruskin, Real Estate; and Randy Mastro, Strategic
Planning and Government Relations.

One of the greatest strengths of The Legal Aid Society
is the ability of the staff to adapt to the changing needs of our
clients,and, more often than not, anticipate those needs. A major
immigration issue facing our nation is the representation in
Immigration Court of the massive number of unaccompanied
immigrant children who have fled their homelands and are now
faced with a difficult situation caused by scarce resources and
overwhelming caseloads in an accelerated enforcement
environment known as “rocket dockets.” Members of The Legal
Aid Society’s Immigration Law Unit have been representing
children in Immigration Court who have fled their homelands for
nearly 10 years, so our Immigration Law Unit took a leadership
role in offering training for law firms, law school clinics and other
organizations. The New York City Council, the Robin Hood
Foundation, and the New York Community Trust recognized the
great need and are combining forces to provide legal
representation for an estimated 1,000 unaccompanied
immigrant children facing deportation and the Society will be
part of that initiative.

The Report of the Attorney-in-Chief, which begins on page 6,
provides details of the great accomplishments of our staff on a
day-to-day basis. This annual report is dedicated to them. Their
names appear on the inside covers. Special thanks to our Practice
heads who demonstrate outstanding leadership — Adriene
Holder, Civil; Tina Luongo, Criminal; and Tamara Stecker, Juvenile
Rights. Congratulations to Tina, who had served as Seymour’s
Deputy,a supervisor,and a staff attorney in the Criminal Practice,
on her recent appointment as Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal
Practice.

We look to the challenge and the promise of the future.

Richard J. Davis
Chairman

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY



REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT

Society, | am more convinced than ever before of the

importance of The Legal Aid Society to New York
City. The Legal Aid Society makes New York City a better
place to live and work by helping to change the lives of
low-income New Yorkers and by assisting government
agencies and community organizations to do their jobs.
We serve New Yorkers in all five boroughs of New York
City — in the courtroom, in the community, and in public
and government forums.

Q s | begin my sixth year as President of The Legal Aid

The story of The Legal Aid Society is an essential part of the
story of New York City. Glance through the history of The
Legal Aid Society, and you will understand that City
Administration after City Administration sought our help
and received it — whether it be during the panic of 1893
when thousands were out of jobs, establishing a branch to
assist sailors who fell victim to unscrupulous crimps who
sold the men to shippers, or championing the
rights of working men and women who were
immigrants. Today, government at all levels,
community organizations, and low-income New
Yorkers seek the help of the Society on a daily
basis. We are asked to testify on major issues
affecting our clients in all three Practice areas —
Civil, Criminal, and Juvenile Rights.

Our work in the Civil area is supported by our
Sustaining Law Firms, institutions and
individuals as well as some government grants.
The New York City Council has recently approved
funding for a number of projects in housing and
immigration that are essential to our clients. The City and
State support our work in the Criminal and Juvenile Rights
Practices. Thanks to the special commitment of Chief
Judge Jonathan Lippman, we have been able to enhance
our services in the Criminal Practice through the
Judiciary’s caseload limitations and in the Juvenile Rights
Practice through the Judiciary’s client case cap. We are
also blessed with an outstanding Board of Directors.

During the last 138 years, The Legal Aid Society has served
over 14 million New Yorkers who needed our help. Quite
an impressive number, but it does not include the millions
of New Yorkers who benefit from our law reform work
each year.

Yet, the real story is told in the words of clients who
desperately seek the help of The Legal Aid Society when
there is no where else to turn, and others who are
intimately involved with the work of the Society.

Recently during a hearing conducted by Chief Judge
Lippman on the need to expand civil legal services, a
Legal Aid client told her horrible story of eviction and
homelessness in a moving testimony that brought
many in the audience to tears. Yvette Walker and her
teenage daughter were evicted from a homeless shelter
while she was in the hospital for surgery on her leg.
They spent several months in and out of temporary
shelters, all of which were inaccessible for the walker
she uses. When she met Legal Aid Staff Attorney Kathryn
Kliff, everything changed.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

“It was the first time we felt human again,” Ms. Walker
said of her first meeting with Kathryn Kliff. “it mattered
what we had to say. It was the first time in months that
someone believed in us.”

The representation of unaccompanied immigrant children
has been one of our major challenges because the
numbers are staggering. It is also a stellar example of the
exceptional work and dedication of our staff. City Council
Speaker Melissa Mark-Viverito who considers the
situation a humanitarian crisis, sent out the following
tweet after viewing Legal Aid attorneys in Immigration
Court representing the children:

“Visit to Federal Plaza Immigration Court
heartbreaking...moved by commitment to
unaccompanied minors by Legal Aid Society.”

The Report of the Attorney-in-Chief, which begins on page
6, highlights many of the outstanding accomplishments
of our staff during the past year.

In July, we appointed Seymour W. James, Jr., as
the new Attorney-in-Chief after a three month
search. We are very fortunate to have a leader of
Seymour’s caliber to head the organization.
During the search, Rich Davis and | spent much
more time at Legal Aid. The men and women
who work at the Society are a remarkable group
of individuals who care deeply about our clients.
Their energy and enthusiasm are contagious.
They are led by three outstanding Practice
Attorneys-in-Charge: Adriene Holder (Civil);
Tamara Steckler (Juvenile Rights); and Tina Luongo, the
newly appointed head of the Criminal Practice.

One of my most enjoyable responsibilities is the
announcement of the Orison S. Marden Awards. The
awards were created in 1976 during The Legal Aid Society’s
centennial year to recognize the excellence and dedication
of the staff and to honor the memory of Orison S. Marden,
a White & Case partner who devoted 40 years of service
to the Society as a Director and also served as Chairman
of the Board.

Recipients of the 2014 Orison S. Marden Awards include
Elizabeth A. Hay, Attorney-in-Charge of the Harlem
Community Law Office; Wanjuri Hawkins, Forensic Social
Worker in the Criminal Practice’s Defender Services;
Maria A. Garcia, Practice Administrator for the Juvenile
Rights Practice; Carol Hochberg, a Staff Attorney in the
Queens office of the Juvenile Rights Practice; and Claudia
Montoya, Staff Attorney in the MICA Project in the Bronx
office of the Criminal Practice.

| congratulate them all.

Thank you for supporting The Legal Aid Society.

Fin Fogg
President
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Seymour W. James, Jr., (left seated) the Attorney-in-Chief, with (seated) Adriene Holder, Attorney-in-Charge of the Civil Practice; Tamara
Steckler (left standing), Attorney-in-Charge of the Juvenile Rights Practice; and Tina Luongo, Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal Practice.
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“If we are to keep our democracy, there must be one
commandment: Thou shalt not ration justice.”

Honorable Learned Hand, Chief Judge of the U.S.

Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, at The Legal
Aid Society’s 75th Anniversary Dinner, has become a
hallmark in the quest for equal justice and serves as the
principle guiding our mission. We are dedicated to one
powerful belief: no New Yorker should be denied access
to justice because of poverty.

This quotation, taken from a speech given by the

Founded in 1876, The Legal Aid Society is the nation’s
oldest and largest not-for-profit legal services
organization. It provides high quality legal services to low
income families and individuals throughout the five
boroughs of New York City in three major practices, Civil,
Criminal and Juvenile Rights. Utilizing a network of
neighborhood and courthouse based offices in 26
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REPORT OF THE ATTORNEY-IN-CHIEF

locations, bright, dedicated staff comprised of over 1100
attorneys and approximately 700 social workers,
paralegals, investigators, support staff and administrative
staff provides comprehensive legal representation to
clients unable to afford private counsel.

Our staff represents clients at virtually every level of the
State and federal courts as well as federal, State and City
administrative proceedings. During the past year we
provided legal assistance in more than 310,000 cases
and legal matters for low income New Yorkers in dire
need of legal help.

The work of the staff is supplemented by volunteer help
from law firms, corporate law departments and expert
consultants. In the past year our Pro Bono program
coordinated the work of more than 3,000 volunteers from
leading law firms and corporate law departments to
leverage our resources.
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In addition to the annual workload of over 310,000
individual matters, the Society’s class action and law
reform work benefit some 2 million low income families
and individuals in New York City. The landmark rulings in
many of our cases have statewide and national impact.

Based on their expertise, Society staff is frequently asked
to testify before federal, State and City Council legislative
committees, to comment on administrative regulations
and procedures, and to speak on behalf of clients in the
media. Our staff is also called upon to serve on State and
City committees and task forces created by the executive
to examine issues relevant to our practice. In addition, we
operate an extensive “know your rights” community
education program designed to provide clients and
community based organizations with knowledge about
their basic rights in areas such as family law, housing,
public benefits and criminal law.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Government funds the legally mandated representation
of clients in the Society’s Criminal Practice and Juvenile
Practice. Apart from targeted government funding for
special Civil programs, our Civil Practice largely depends
on private funding for client services. Unfortunately, due
to our limited resources we are unable to assist
substantial numbers of low-income City residents who
seek our aid in civil matters.

This annual report highlights some of the major
achievements in our Civil, Criminal and Juvenile Rights
Practices over the past year. These representative samples
describe the outstanding work accomplished with the
extraordinary efforts of a staff devoted to ensuring equal
justice for low income families and individuals. Their zealous
advocacy, often under difficult circumstances, makes a
difference in the lives of our clients and improves the quality
of life for communities throughout New York City.

Wi BY 2V
The principal asset of
The Legal Aid Society is its




low-income families and individuals in New York

City by helping them obtain and maintain the
basic necessities of life - housing, health care, food, and
subsistence income or self-sufficiency. Additionally, our
legal assistance enhances family stability and security
by resolving a full range of legal problems.

The work of the Civil Practice improves the lives of

During the last year, the Society’s Civil Practice, comprised
of 23 units and programs and 16 neighborhood and
courthouse-based offices throughout New York City, has
worked on more than 46,000 individual legal matters
benefiting some 116,000 low-income New Yorkers. In
addition, our active law reform litigation docket of 41
cases benefits virtually the entire population of low-
income families and individuals in New York City —some
two million New Yorkers.

Our clients are some of the most vulnerable New
Yorkers — senior citizens, children and adults with
chronicillnesses and disabilities, survivors of domestic
violence, immigrants, low-wage workers, persons living
with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA), and homeless or imminently
homeless individuals and families. Typically, clients
seek assistance from the Civil Practice after exhausting
all other avenues of support. In addition to contacting

THE CIVIL PRACTICE

us directly, clients are referred to the Society by the
courts, community and social services organizations,
elected officials and government agencies. Other legal
services groups often refer their clients to us because
they are unable to provide all necessary services, have
limited or no case intake capacity, or do not serve a
particular community.

Our comprehensive civil legal assistance includes
housing, homelessness prevention, and foreclosure
prevention; family law and domestic violence;
employment issues faced by low-wage workers; public
assistance; Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
(SNAP) benefits; disability-related assistance; health law;
HIV/AIDS and chronic diseases; elder law; tax law for
low-income workers; consumer law; education law;
immigration law; community development legal
assistance to enable clients to move out of poverty; and
reentry and reintegration matters for clients returning
to the community.

Our ComPREHENSIVE APPROACH: By means of an effective
combination of individual client representation and
law reform litigation and advocacy, the Society is able
to assist vast numbers of eligible clients — far more
than we could represent in individual cases alone. In

Attorneys and case workers who are representing unaccompanied immigrant children in Immigration Court who are fleeing
desperate and dangerous situations include: (from left) Kathleen Maloney, Staff Attorney in Legal Aid’s Immigration Law Unit;
Claire Thomas, Safe Passage; Elvis Garcia Callejas, Catholic Charities Community Services; Veronica Vadia Morgenstern, American
Immigration Lawyers Association; Maureen Schad, Chadbourne & Parke; Cristina Romero, Staff Attorney in Legal Aid’s
Immigration Law Unit; Jojo Annobil, Attorney-in-Charge of the Immigration Law Unit at Legal Aid; and Eve Stotland, The Door.
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addition, the Civil Practice provides a diverse range of
services to New Yorkers living at or below the poverty
line in all five boroughs of New York City, including early
intervention and prevention initiatives; self-help
community legal education and training, including
Know Your Rights' workshops; expert technical
assistance to community groups and other service
providers to avert the need for legal intervention;
comprehensive continuing legal education programs
for the legal services and legal advocacy community;
and pro bono initiatives with the private bar that
further leverage our resources and services.

PREVENTING UNWARRANTED DEPORTATIONS: Since October 1,
2013, the Department of Homeland Security has
apprehended over 60,000 unaccompanied children at
the southern border. As a result, the federal government
announced plans to accelerate the removal process for
these undocumented minor children. In response, the
New York Immigration Court implemented a daily Surge
Docket exclusively for this vulnerable population to
appear before an immigration judge. Many of these
children were fleeing human rights abuses, violent
gangs, domestic violence, drug traffickers, human
trafficking, and economic deprivation. These
unaccompanied minor children are susceptible to being
overwhelmed and confused by Immigration Court
proceedings because of their youth, language abilities,
cultural differences, and cognitive abilities. With no
right to appointed counsel, it is virtually impossible for
most children to successfully pursue the immigration
relief to which they are entitled. Our Immigration Law
Unit(ILU), in partnership with a number of legal service
providers and social services organizations, initiated an
Unaccompanied Minors Project to mitigate the growing
cohort of undocumented and vulnerable children
without access to legal representation and social,
mental, and medical services. This multi-pronged
project includes direct legal representation of
unaccompanied minors on the Surge Docket; local
infrastructure and capacity building; training pro bono
attorneys and law students to handle and assist with
representation; and social services for unaccompanied
minors and their families. The primary goal of this
project is to identify possible relief from removal for
these children so that they may have a chance at the
American Dream. In addition to the Unaccompanied
Minors Project, ILU has initiated the New York
Immigration Family Unity Project (NYIFUP), the nation’s

'The Society’s Know Your Rights program includes a series of brochures,
videos, and trainings created by Society staff to help educate New
Yorkers about various important legal matters such as eviction, family
law, consumer rights, and what to do if you are stopped by the police.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

/

The Legal Aid Society supports New York City’s efforts
to confront issues of domestic violence. Karen Cacace,
Supervising Attorney for Legal Aid’s Employment Law
Unit, participates in the Domestic Violence and the
Workplace Forum organized by Rosemonde Pierre-
Louis, Commissioner of NYC'’s Office to Combat
Domestic Violence.

first government-funded system of universal
representation for immigrants in removal proceedings
and; the Immigrant Justice Corps, the country’s first
fellowship program dedicated to meeting the need for
high-quality legal assistance for immigrants.

ENSURING THE RIGHTS OF WoRkERs: The Legal Aid Society’s
Employment Law Unit (ELU) provides representation,
advice, and community education to low-wage and
unemployed workers on a variety of legal issues
including wage discrimination, unemployment benefits,
harassment, and wage violations. This past year, ELU
along with pro bono counsel, Shearman & Sterling LLP,
represented more than 60 delivery workers in the United
States District Court in an action against Domino’s Pizza
New York (DPNY), which owns four Domino’s Pizza
stores, and the corporate franchisor, Domino’s. The claim
against DPNY involved systemic wage theft violations —
unpaid minimum wage and overtime, violations of the
tip credit rules, and retaliation against workers who
complained about these practices. Based on the
plaintiffs’ allegations of corporate Domino’s involvement
in training store owners, collecting and maintaining
payroll data, and establishing policies and procedures, in
a rare decision, the federal court allowed the plaintiffs
to pursue the claims against the corporate franchisor
Domino’s as a defendant as well as DPNY. This decision
was critical, as DPNY had declared bankruptcy. With
Shearman & Sterling, the Society also represented the
class in bankruptcy court. A settlement was approved by
the bankruptcy court and included $1.282 million to be
paid by defendants, with almost $1.2 million going to the
workers. Awards ranged from $61,300 to $400 per
delivery person, depending on the length of
employment with DPNY. Under the settlement, the
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franchise will start to pay the full minimum wage to its
delivery workers instead of the reduced “tipped” wage.
Corporate Domino’s is contributing to the settlement by
forgiving an interest payment, lowering its interest rate
on some payments, and deferring certain payments
owed by the franchise until after the workers are paid.
The groundbreaking decision in this case, allowing the
plaintiffs to include corporate Domino’s in the suit, is a
significant development that will enable workers, in
appropriate circumstances, to hold franchisors
accountable for their franchisees’ operations.

ResuvenaTING CommuniTiEs: Our Community Development
Project (CDP), continues to pursue new community
education initiatives to assist low-income small business
owners and non-profits to rejuvenate their
communities. CDP provides legal representation,
education, advocacy, and other support to foster
grassroots community development in New York City.
We strengthen marginalized communities and resist the
displacement of low-income residents by promoting
entrepreneurship by low-income persons and
representing nonprofit organizations that provide
essential services.

An example of the CDP’s representation of a community
group is our work with the Central Family Life Center, Inc
(CFLC). The Center was created to improve the lives and
environment of Staten Island residents through civic,
cultural, and social activities, and houses many critical
social services programs for the borough’s diverse
residents. CFLC was awarded a grant from the City of
New York for over $500,000 to become the local host
organization on Staten Island for an anti-gun violence
program, “CeaseFire.” The Society’s Anti-Gun Violence
Unit, part of our Criminal Practice, discovered that CFLC
was in danger of losing its funding because of non-
compliance with IRS informational filing requirements.
The organization had lost its tax exempt status and was
not able to receive the grants awarded from the
City. The Anti-Gun Violence Unit referred CFLC to our
Community Development Project to assist the
organization in reinstating its tax exempt status so that
it would not lose its grants. Through the efforts of CDP,
in collaboration with our Anti-Gun Violence Unit, we
were able to ensure that CFLC can remain an integral
part of the anti-violence movement in New York City.

PRESERVING HEALTH CARE SERVICES FOR MEDICAID RECIPIENTS: The
Health Law Unit (HLU) is a citywide unit that provides
assistance to individuals: denied access to public health
insurance including Medicaid, Child Health Plus, and
Medicare; denied access to health care services by
managed care organizations, Medicaid or Medicare;

denied access under hospital charity care programs;
facing medical debt issues; and denied access to coverage
or services due to immigration status. In addition to the
provision of direct assistance to low-income people, the
HLU provides technical assistance, advice and training to
legal services organizations and community based
organizations throughout New York State.

Starting In 2011, new populations of seriously disabled
and other vulnerable recipients have been mandatorily
enrolled in Medicaid Managed Care plans as part of the
State’s re-organization of the Medicaid program. Many
of these plans prevented Medicaid enrollees from
accessing essential heath care services and violated
enrollees’ due process rights. In the past year the HLU
has successfully engaged in negotiations with the New
York State Department of Health to address enrollees’
barriers to enrollment, denials of health care services,
and difficulty coordinating benefits,among other issues.
This work will protect the rights of some 117,000 New
York City seniors and disabled individuals who were
transitioned into managed long-term care plans.

HELPING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SURVIVORS ATTAIN FINANCIAL
StasiLTY: Our Family Law and Domestic Violence Practice
provides citywide legal services to individuals and
families, most of whom are survivors of domestic
violence (DV). In an innovative initiative, as one of only a
handful of legal service providers in New York City with
both consumer and domestic violence practices, our
Family/DV Practice is able assist domestic violence
survivors who also suffer from economic abuse. In the
past, victims left their homes and jobs to escape abuse;
as shelter beds and affordable housing have grown
scarce, today’s advocates recognize survivors must
become self-sufficient, making resolution of consumer
matters critical. This Practice provides consumer clinics
at domestic violence shelters to help clients achieve
stability, autonomy, and economic self-sufficiency in a
safe environment.

PRISONERS’ RIGHTS PROJECT CHALLENGES CULTURE OF VIOLENCE:
Our Prisoners’ Rights Project (PRP) protects and enforces
the legal rights of New York City and New York State
prisoners through law reform, class action litigation, and
advice and representation to individuals. PRP’s priorities
include preventing guard brutality and sexual abuse,
challenging disability discrimination, improving mental
health and medical care, increasing educational
programs for young prisoners, and eliminating unsafe
physical conditions.

In the latest class action lawsuit filed by the Civil
Practice’s Prisoners’ Rights Project we have sued the NYC
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Department of Correction for creating a culture of
violence by failing to discipline officers cited in brutality
complaints — and then promoting them to deputy
wardens, wardens, or department administrators. The 12
clients we are representing in Nunez v. City of New York
have suffered fractured faces, ribs, jaws, wrists, and noses

“It was the first time we felt human
again,” Ms. Yvette Walker (right) said of
her first meeting with Legal Aid Staff
Attorney Kathryn KIiff. “It mattered what
we had to say. It was the first time in

months that someone believed in us.”

During a hearing conducted by Chief Judge Jonathan
Lippman on the need to expand civil legal services,
Ms. Walker told her horrible story of eviction and
homelessness, of months in and out of temporary
shelters which were inaccessible for the walker she
uses, in a moving testimony that brought many in
the audience to tears.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

and severe concussions leading to neurological damage
and internal injuries. Correctional staff routinely using
excessive force against inmates, even for minor
misconduct like verbal complaints, protests, or
“perceived disrespect.” Additionally, inmates are
routinely removed from their cells and taken to isolated
areas without video cameras where they are beaten by
groups of officers. This case also highlights the cruel
treatment of mentally ill inmates in NYC correctional
facilities, a group that makes up nearly 40% of the
detained population.

ENSURING PuBLIC AssISTANCE BENEFITS: Our Law Reform Unit,
through class action litigation, seeks to enforce the
rights of groups of similarly situated low-income New
Yorkers by achieving systemic reforms not possible solely
through individual representation. For example, this
Unit, along with the law firm of Milbank, Tweed, Hadley
& McCloy, LLP brought an action, Lovely H. v. Eggleston
on behalf of low-income clients who were unjustly
denied public benefits. The case was initially brought in
response to the New York City Human Resources
Administration’s (HRA) plan to involuntarily
transfer thousands of disabled class members from local
Job Centers to specialized, disability-only hub centers
that were often much farther from the clients’ homes
and entailed longer, more expensive commutes.

As a result of our efforts, our clients obtained a
preliminary injunction ordering HRA to transfer class
members back to their original centers. This ground-
breaking decision affirmed that involuntary segregation
of people with disabilities violated the Americans with
Disabilities Act. After several years of motion practice
and negotiations, the parties reached a settlement in
which some 15,000 class members who lost benefits
will receive an estimated $15 million dollars or more in
retroactive cash assistance and SNAP (formerly food
stamps) benefits. A second branch of the
lawsuit successfully challenged HRA's failure to provide
reasonable accommodations to disabled clients at their
local Job Centers. In December 2013, on the eve of the
trial, the City admitted liability. The City’s new
administration then signed a new, interim settlement
agreement through which class members will be
protected from unfair reductions and termination of
benefits while the parties work in good-faith on a far
reaching overhaul of the program to make it more
accessible to people with disabilities.

Housing Serving clients with housing needs comprises
more than 40% of the cases the Civil Practice works on
each year. Our housing work provides individual
representation, community education, outreach, and



advocacy to provide enhanced income supports and
subsides for low-income families and individuals,
promote economic development, and preserve and
create affordable housing that will revitalize and
stabilize low-income communities. The Civil Practice has
specialized units to ensure clients receive the specific
assistance they need. For example, The Foreclosure
Prevention and Home Equity Preservation Project serves
homeowners facing the loss of their homes; The Housing
Practice keeps low-income New Yorkers in affordable
housing, corrects unsafe housing violations, obtains and
preserves rent subsidies for clients, fights illegal rent
overcharges, and prevents evictions. The Housing
Development Program helps tenant groups, block
associations, low-income housing co-ops, and pro-tenant
housing organizations negotiate with landlords, fight
illegal rent increases, obtain repairs, and resolve other
housing-related issues; and the Housing Help Program,
a courthouse-based project, assists those at imminent
risk of eviction in eight target areas in the Bronx,
Brooklyn, and Queens.

HomeLessness PrevenTion: Our Homeless Rights Project
(HRP) protects and enforces the legal rights of homeless
families and individuals in New York City. To reach these
clients, each week we deploy our Mobile Justice Unit to
the City’s Prevention Assistance Temporary Housing
(PATH) office in the Bronx, where homeless families
apply for City shelter.

An HRP staff attorney met Ms. M while performing
outreach in our Mobile Justice Unit at PATH. Ms. M had
breast cancer and was in need of chemotherapy.
However, without stable housing, she had difficulty
maintaining treatment. New York City’s Department of
Housing Services (DHS) initially denied shelter to Ms. M
and her 10 year old daughter, J, on the ground that they
could stay with Ms. M’s cousin in a Section 8 apartment,
even though they were not on the lease. Section 8
housing regulations state that anyone not on the lease
of an apartment is prohibited from residing there. If Ms.
M’s cousin had permitted the M family to continue to
reside there she would have been violating Section 8
regulations and risked eviction of her own family.

THE CIVIL PRACTICE continued

On behalf of Ms. M, our staff advocated to the legal
department at PATH, and they agreed to give her family
a placement in Manhattan while they investigated the
case further. However, the shelter was too far from her
daughter’s school, and Ms. M had trouble traveling due
to her illness. Consequently, we advocated with the
State’s Education Department to set up a school bus
route for Ms. M’s daughter. The family has now been
approved for stable housing and Ms. M can continue her
chemotherapy without disruption.

‘FIRST ReSPONDERS’ DURING TIMES OF CRisis INCLUDING THE
EeoLa Virus HealtH Scare: Distinct among legal service
providers, The Legal Aid Society serves as the City’s legal
services “First Responders.” We have a citywide presence
and work directly with elected officials and community-
based organizations to serve New Yorkers. In this
capacity we have ensured that benefits reached needy
New Yorkers after the g/11 attack on the World Trade
Center and respond to the need for legal services after
natural disasters such as Superstorm Sandy. Most
recently, we were called upon by the City of New York
Human Resources Administration to advise and protect
the legal rights of individuals quarantined in response
to the Ebola virus health crisis with matters including
their employment and housing.

Kev Pro Bono Assistance Our Civil Practice, in collaboration
with our Pro Bono Program, leverages volunteer attorney
support to expand the services we are able to provide
for low-income New Yorkers. In one such partnership we
are working with Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP in a pro
bono project that focuses on preventing evictions from
public housing apartments. Approximately 500,000
New Yorkers reside in public housing owned and
managed by the New York City Housing Authority
(NYCHA). These families, many of whom are disabled
and/or seniors, are some of the poorest and most
vulnerable in New York. Each case that we take on for
our clients is staffed by a team at Weil that includes a
partner, senior associate, and junior associate and is
closely supervised by the Society.
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The Civil Practice Offices, Programs and Services

With neighborhood offices in all five boroughs
of New York City and 23 specialized units
and programs, the Civil Practice provides
comprehensive civil legal services for low-
income families and individuals.

The neighborhood and courthouse-based
offices that provide borough-wide, community-
based direct representation include:

e THE BRONX NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE
e Tue BRonx COURTHOUSE OFFICE

e Tue BRonx HousiNG HELP PROGRAM
COURTHOUSE OFFICE

e THE BRONX ASSIGNED COUNSEL
CoOURTHOUSE OFFICE

e Tue BRONX SUPREME COURT
FORECLOSURE CLINIC

e THE BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE
e TaeE BROOKLYN COURTHOUSE OFFICE

CoURTHOUSE OFFICE
e THE BROOKLYN OFFICE FOR THE AGING
e Tue HARLEM CoMMUNITY LAW OFFICE
e THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY’S HEADQUARTERS

e ToHe LOWER MANHATTAN NEIGHBORHOOD
OFFICE

* THE MANHATTAN COURTHOUSE OFFICE
* THE QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE
e THE QUEENS COURTHOUSE OFFICE

e TaE QUEENS HOUSING HELP PROGRAM
COURTHOUSE OFFICE

e THE QUEENS C1viL COURT FORECLOSURE
CLINIC

e THE STATEN ISLAND NEIGHBORHOOD
OFFICE
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Civil Programs to Address Essential Housing

Needs

e THE FORECLOSURE PREVENTION AND HOME

EQUITY PRESERVATION PROJECT
e THE HOMELESS RIGHTS PROJECT
e THE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT UNIT
e THE HOUSING HELP PROGRAM

Civil Programs to Address Essential Family
Needs

e THE FAMILY LAW AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

PRACTICE
e THE IMMIGRATION LAw UNIT

Civil Programs to Address Essential Health
and Education Needs

e THE EDUCATION LAW PROJECT
e THE HEALTH LAaw UNIT

Civil Programs to Address Essential
Subsistence Income Needs

e THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
e THE CONSUMER LAW PROJECT

e THE DISABILITY ADVOCACY PRACTICE

e THE EMPLOYMENT LAw UNIT

e THE GOVERNMENT BENEFITS PRACTICE

e THE LOW-INCOME TAXPAYER CLINIC

e Project FAIR

Civil Programs to Address Systemic Client
Needs and Address Essential Needs of
Vulnerable Populations

e THE ELDER LAW PRACTICE/BROOKLYN
OFFICE FOR THE AGING

e THE HIV/AIDS REPRESENTATION PROJECT
e THE LAW REFORM UNIT

e PRISONERS’ RIGHTS PROJECT

e THE SINGLE STOP PROGRAM



ur Criminal Practice, the oldest and largest public

defender in the country represented low income

New Yorkers involved in the criminal justice
system in over 230,000 trial, appellate, and post-
conviction matters during the past year. The Practice
includes criminal defense trial offices in all five boroughs
of New York City,an Appeals Bureau, a Parole Revocation
Defense Unit, and a Special Litigation Unit.

I was pleased to recently announce the appointment of
Tina Luongo as the new Attorney-in-Charge of the
Criminal Practice. Tina had served admirably for the last
three years as the Deputy Attorney-in-Charge where she
was integrally involved in the daily operation of the
practice. She was responsible for supervising the
practice’s many specialty teams and demonstrated
outstanding leadership skills.

Much of the work of the Criminal Defense Practice
involves representation that goes beyond the criminal
case. Often the criminal defense staff works closely with
our Civil, Juvenile Rights and Pro Bono Practices to help
clients reduce the devastating and life-altering
consequences that arrests and convictions have on
immigration, housing, employment, education, and
other important aspects their lives.

Tina Luongo, the new
Attorney-in-Charge of the
Criminal Practice, greets
the new Fall class of
attorneys.

The cornerstone of a
successful public defender office is zealous and effective
advocacy and litigation. As the primary defender in New
York City, we represented low-income New Yorkers from
the initiation of their criminal case to the very end in
over 220,000 trial-level cases. The staff in the borough
offices consists of staff attorneys, supervising attorneys,
paralegals, investigators, social workers and other
support personnel who work collaboratively to provide
high quality, client-centered representation. In addition
to representing people in criminal court, staff in our trial
offices represent clients in many related matters that
stem from being arrested, such as immigration
proceedings and car forfeiture, school suspension, and
driver’s license revocation hearings. Often these related
proceedings may result in consequences that create
huge barriers for our clients in their daily lives. In the
context of immigration deportation proceedings, the
results can be devastating to the client and their
families. A representative example of life changing
teamwork occurred when our client, WC, was arrested
for several burglary charges that could have resulted in
several years of state prison and deportation if he was
convicted. When our staff attorney met WC in
arraignments, it was clear that WC was suffering from
substance abuse and that the theft related crimes he
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was charged with were due to his addiction. Despite the
prosecutor’s insistence on a state prison sentence, WC’s
attorney and social worker reached out to our
Immigration Law Unit to assist in creating a plan to
address WC's issues and tried to convince the Court and
the prosecutor that WC needed treatment and not
prison. Thanks to their hard work, the Court agreed and
permitted the client to enter a substance abuse
treatment program. After eighteen months of intensive
treatment, the client successfully completed the
program and was not sentenced to prison. Our
immigration attorneys continued to work with WC to
insure that his arrest and sentence did not cause him to
be deported.

Early
investigation is critical to litigation and occurs well in
advance of trial. This year, due to the increased use of
digital forensic evidence, such as cell phones, tablets and
laptops, the Criminal Defense Practice created a new
Digital Forensic Unit.  This Unit, comprised of
experienced IT investigators, team with our field
investigators and attorneys to assist in case preparation
and often find evidence that helps establish that a
person has been wrongfully accused of a crime. In a
recent case, the unit used their expertise to analyze the
GPS of an iPhone and records of calls to prove that our
client was out of New York State when the prosecutor
claimed he committed the crime. The client was
acquitted of all charges.

The New York City Office of the Criminal Justice
Coordinator has reported that serious mental illness has
been documented in 14.5 %of men and 31 % of women
in jail settings, which is three times higher than in the
general population. This year, Mayor DiBlasio created a
Task Force on Behavioral Health to examine the issue of
mental health in the criminal justice system and make
recommendations to reduce the number of people with
mental illness in the system.

Long before the creation of the task force, the Criminal
Defense Practice has been addressing this staggering
reality by developing a broad range of services for our
clients with mental illness. Our social workers and
mitigation specialists provide an essential element of
effective, comprehensive representation for our clients
and in the past year, we have significantly increased
the scope of our social work practice, which provides
assessment, evaluation, program placement, oral
advocacy, and support services at all points of the
criminal justice representation from arraignment to
re-entry.
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Our Defender Services Program has social workers in all
our trial offices who interview clients and their families,
gather life history records, and ultimately present
mitigation evidence, both oral and written, on
misdemeanor and felony cases. These social workers put
our clients’ contacts with the criminal justice system into
context by explaining the circumstances that led to or
contributed to the behavior for which the client is
charged. Anexample of this crucial work was illustrated
in the case of our 25-year-old female client who was
arrested for Burglary in the Second degree. She had a
minimal criminal history prior to this arrest and was
living with her wife and caring for her five-year-old
stepdaughter while attending college. Our assigned
social workers recognized that our client was struggling
with mental health issues that had never been formally
diagnosed, and was self-medicating with alcohol. Right
before the arrest her drinking had spiraled out of control
to the point where her wife demanded a separation and
our client’s life began to unravel. She had also been the
victim of a recent sexual assault, which occurred while
she was drinking, and she had seen many of her
relationships and other opportunities disappear as a
result of her chronic binge drinking. After the social
worker and the social work supervisor had interviewed
family and friends of our client and obtained the mental
health history, they accompanied the attorney to a
meeting with the assistant district attorney to discuss
the client’s issues. In discussing the extenuating
circumstances, the social worker explained how jail and
a felony conviction would not only be traumatizing after
the recent sexual assault, but counter-productive to the
effort to get the client the substance and mental health
treatment she needed to regain control of her life. The
assistant district attorney consented to a treatment
alternative to jail and a full dismissal once treatment
was successfully completed.

Our MICA Project is comprised of four attorney/social
worker teams that represent clients who suffer from
both mentalillness and substance abuse. The mitigation
specialists help secure alternatives to incarceration for
clients who can be diverted into community-based
treatment. Once our MICA clients are engaged in
community-based treatment, we provide essential
support to them for 18 to 24 months to assist them in
completion of treatment services, even after the case has
been resolved.

In a case, which demonstrates the success of the MICA
Unit, the team represented a 21-year-old Latino male, in
custody for Robbery in the 2" Degree who was
diagnosed with Bipolar Disorder and Polysubstance
Abuse. He had a history of sexual trauma and neglect
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The Staten Island Office of The Legal Aid Society’s Criminal Practice sponsored a Know Your Rights event at The College of Staten
Island in March. Participating in the session were (from left) Joe Licitra, Supervising Attorney; Saly Guirguis, Paralegal; Finda
Gbollie, a Staff Attorney; Tamara Giwa, a Staff Attorney; Bina Ahmad, a Staff Attorney; and Michael Rooney, a Staff Attorney.

during his early childhood, and received special
education services for his cognitive and emotional
problems. Prior to his involvement with the MICA
Project, he had extensive criminal justice involvement
including an open warrant on a violation of probation
from New Jersey. After assessing the client, determining
his treatment needs, and advocating to the Court and
District Attorney’s office for approximately 6 months,
the MICA Project was able to obtain an alternative-to-
incarceration disposition where the client would enter
into treatment designed to address both his significant
mental health issues and chronic substance abuse.
Additionally, the MICA Project worked with the New
Jersey public defender’s office to get the warrant on the
violation of probation lifted and have the client released
to enter long-term treatment.

With the assistance of a special grant from the Jacob and
Valeria Langeloth Foundation, we also implemented a
pilot Misdemeanor Arraignment Project in Manhattan
to provide early intervention and diversion services in
arraignments for clients with mental health needs. The
demonstrated effectiveness of this initiative in
successfully diverting clients with mental health needs
from jail has led us to expand this program to all five
boroughs. Our mitigation specialists in this project

quickly identify and assess individuals with mental
illness at arraignments and recommend diversion that
enables attorneys to secure the release of many clients
who would be detained pending a court appearance
without this intervention.

Several years ago,
with the generous financial assistance of the Novo
Foundation, we established the Trafficking Victims Legal
Defense and Advocacy Project, an innovative
interdisciplinary pilot project with an attorney and social
worker, to address the comprehensive needs of victims
of human trafficking who are arrested and prosecuted
for prostitution in New York County. Now in its sixth year,
expanded across the City and renamed the Trafficking
Victims Advocacy Project, staff attorneys work with a
supervising attorney, a mitigation specialist and a
paralegal to represent clients on pending criminal cases,
file motions to vacate prior convictions where the person
was trafficked, and assist with civil legal services to aid
clients establish independence from their traffickers.

The work of the project has been recognized nationally
and internationally.. This year the project was invited to
give a briefing on how the United States handles people
who are trafficked at the United Nations Human Rights
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Committee (UNHRC) periodic review of U.S. Compliance
with the International Covenant on Civil and Political
Rights. The advocacy of TVAP and its partner
organizations led to a powerful conclusion by the
UNHRC, expressing concern about the “criminalization
of victims on prostitution-related charges,” and urging
specific reforms.

Our Parole Revocation
Defense Unit represents individuals released from prison
to community supervision who are charged with
violating the conditions of their supervision. Many of
the clients represented by the parole defense staff face
enormous obstacles reintegrating to their communities
after being imprisoned. Lack of employment, housing
and health care, particularly mental health treatment,
often drive these clients back into the criminal justice
system. Our skilled attorneys and social workers work
tirelessly to try to prevent the cycle of recidivism by
connecting clients to needed treatment and services
after parole violations.

Our client RR’s story demonstrates the importance of
this vital representation. After being released from
prison in 1998, RR voluntarily returned to parole custody
in February 2014. RR was a non-violent drug offender
who had served 3 years on parole before absconding
from supervision and relocating to another state. He
spent 10 years without any contact with the criminal
justice system. A few years ago, RR was diagnosed with
a terminal Stage IV cancer. Unable to access public
services out of state due to his NYS parole and federal
immigration warrant, RR returned voluntarily to New
York for a parole violation proceeding.

A parole defense staff attorney and social worker began
a long and involved process of marshalling Legal Aid’s
vast resources to provide a a meaningful outcome for
our client that would address his very serious medical
conditions. . Working with our Prisoners’ Rights Project
we reached out to administrators at Rikers Island to
ensure our client received his much needed medication
and to arrange to have RR transferred from a general
population facility into the jail's specialized medical unit.
Then, through the unit’s advocacy for compassionate
release, the Administrative Law Judge on RR’s case was
persuaded to agree to revoke the parole violation and
restore him to parole supervision once stable housing
and medical care were in place. RR was released from
Rikers to family and hospice care

Our
Criminal Practice’s Special Litigation Unit engages in a
litigation and law reform practice that seeks solutions
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to issues that are best resolved by a class-wide or
systemic challenge and also provides our front-line
criminal defense attorneys throughout the City,
attorneys at other organizations, and private attorneys
with advice, training and litigation support on novel or
complex issues. Our major successes have resulted in
significant changes in the law whose benefits accrue to
all New Yorkers charged with criminal conduct, often
wrongfully. For example, the requirement that New
Yorkers must be arraigned within 24 hours of arrest was
established in litigation that our Special Litigation Unit
brought.

“. .. amazing absolutely excellent lawyers

who gave me a brighter future to look
forward to. I received the best services ever.”

Those are the words of a client of the Trafficking
Victims Advocacy Project, describing the work of
lawyers from Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton who
represented her on a pro bono basis. The project
helps victims of human trafficking who are arrested
and prosecuted for prostitution by getting the
convictions vacated. The client spoke at the 2014 Pro
Bono Awards Ceremony. With her is Kate Mogulescu,
Supervising Attorney of the project.



Currently, our Special Litigation Unit is playing a key role
in challenging police practices in New York City that
result in large numbers of unlawful arrests. For example,
together with pro bono counsel Paul, Weiss, Rifkind,
Wharton & Garrison LLP and the NAACP Legal Defense
and Education Fund, we are in the final stages of trial
preparation in a federal class action, challenging the
wave of illegal arrests for trespass in public housing
developments that result when residents and visitors
with a legitimate reason to be on the property are
improperly stopped, questioned, frisked, searched, and
arrested.

Our Criminal Appeals Bureau
represents clients on direct appeals from convictions in
Criminal and Supreme Court in addition to providing a
wide range of post-conviction services. This year, the
Criminal Appeals Unit had major victories on behalf of
our clients as well as the overall fairness of the criminal
justice system.

Bureau attorneys litigated fifteen cases in the New York
Court of Appeals, the State’s highest court, prevailing in
eight of them. In addition to winning relief for these
clients, CAB successfully challenged long-standing
practices that worked to the detriment of all indigent
criminal defense clients. In People v. T, for example, CAB
asked the High Court to put an end to what, long ago,
had become a daily routine in New York City Criminal
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The Legal Aid Society Queens offices of the Criminal and Civil Practices at 120-46 Queens Blvd. were recently renovated.

Courts in which judges accepted guilty pleas to so-called
minor offenses in summary proceedings that entirely
failed to explore whether clients understood the
significant constitutional rights that they were forgoing.
For CAB’s client Mr.T, these summary pleas to possession
and sale of small amounts of marijuana had landed him
in deportation proceedings. When entering these pleas,
Mr. T stood before a judge for no more than a minute.
The court made no mention of the critical constitutional
rights at issue. On CAB’s appeal, the Court of Appeals
emphatically declared an end to such proceedings. No
longer could a judge accept a guilty plea based on a
silent record. At minimum, a court must inform
defendants that, by pleading guilty, they are
surrendering their rights to a trial, to confront the
witnesses against them and to remain silent. The Court
reversed Mr. T’s conviction and, given the minor nature
of the underlying charges, dismissed the case outright,
thereby preserving Mr. T’s opportunity to remain in the
United States. In the wake of of this case, CAB has won
relief for numerous other clients whose lives were being
adversely affected by such convictions and Criminal
Court practice has changed in a meaningful way.

In People v. Marsha Sibblies, CAB presented the most
important question under C.PL. §30.30, New York’s
speedy trial statute, , that the High Court had confronted
in more than a decade. At issue was the common
prosecutorial tactic of declaring “ready” for trial either
at or shortly after the initial arraignment, but later

Timothy Rountree, Attorney-in-Charge of the Queens Criminal office, and Michele Lombardo, Queens Criminal Borough
Administrator, chat with Elizabeth Black, Administrative Assistant. To the right is Savendra Somdat, an Investigator.
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Providing Comprehensive Services In All Five Boroughs

repeatedly requesting adjournment after adjournment
to further investigate the case. Until Sibblies, this tactic
enabled the State to take advantage of 30.30’s post-
readiness measurement of delay, a measurement far
more generous to the prosecution than the
measurement of time before the declaration of
readiness. In Sibblies, the Court, though evenly divided
in two concurring opinions, unanimously condemned
this tactic, deemed the prosecutor’s declaration of
readiness “illusory” and reversed the contrary decision of
the Appellate Division. As a result, all of the charges
against Ms. Sibblies were dismissed and a significant
prosecutorial delaying tactic was reined in.

CAB’s successes in 2014 were not limited to New York’s
Highest Court. After revelations of misconduct by
former Brooklyn homicide detective Louis Scarcella
became public, the Kings County District Attorney’s
office announced its intention to reinvestigate dozens
of homicide convictions from the 1980s and 1990s in
which Detective Scarcella played a role. In response, CAB,
working closely with pro bono attorneys from the City’s
largest law firms, launched its own reinvestigations on
behalf of clients whom the Society had previously
represented. In May, after a year-long effort by CAB and
the law firm of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, our client, RH
had his conviction for second-degree murder vacated
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and he was freed after 28 years of incarceration. The
Brooklyn District Attorney agreed with the defense that
the conviction, for which Mr. H had originally been
sentenced to life imprisonment, lacked integrity, because
it depended on the testimony of an unreliable witness,
Theresa Gomez. Ms. Gomez, now deceased, worked as
an informant for Detective Scarcella and in this capacity,
she claimed, somewhat miraculously, to have witnessed
at least six separate homicides in Brooklyn in the
course of a short period of time. As a result of its
reinvestigation, the District Attorney also dismissed all
charges against two of Mr. H’s brothers, one of whom
had died in prison, who were also convicted based on Ms.
Gomez’s testimony, in an unrelated homicide.

PROVIDING GUIDANCE TO THE CommuniTy: We know that
working in courtrooms alone is not enough. Recognizing
the importance of preventing arrests and assisting
community residents understand their rights, our
Criminal Defense Practice spends a substantial amount
of time in communities all over the City conducting
“Know Your Rights” trainings. From churches to schools
to community centers across the city, our staff partners
with community leaders and other social service
agencies to talk about ways to remain safe and avoid
involvement in the criminal justice system.



he dedicated staff of the Juvenile Rights Practice

(JRP) deals with traumatic and emotionally charged

cases affecting children and their parents and
caretakers each and every day in all five boroughs of the
City. The challenging job of representing the voice of
children in New York City Family Courts falls squarely on
the shoulders of JRP, which represents 9o% of the
children who appear before the New York City Family
Court on child protective, termination of parental rights,
PINS (persons in need of supervision), and juvenile
delinquency petitions. During the past year, JRP handled
approximately 33,000 matters in Family Court.

JRP was established concurrently with New York State’s
Family Court in 1962, five years before the United States
Supreme Court ruled in the case of In re Gault that
children have a constitutional right to counsel at
government expense, and it was one of the first
organizations in this country to represent children in a
juvenile court. Since then, the Juvenile Rights Practice has
grown into the leading organization in the field of child
advocacy, with a significant State and national presence,
and it is the only child advocacy organization that
provides representation to children in each of the areas
listed above.

Over the past few years,
the role of juvenile rights attorneys has been redefined

Thumbs up! It was a great day. Legal Aid Staff participated in full force September 6 at the Bronx Field Day in Maccombs Dam

by a confluence of events including a new court rule,
revised New York State Bar Association standards, JRP’s
newly published guidelines and legislation changing the
nomenclature from the term “law guardian” to attorneys
for children. This sea change related to the role makes it
even clearer that the duty of the attorney for the child is
to provide client-directed legal representation in a
manner consistent with the ethical and legal obligations
of any attorney representing any client. While JRP staff
has always favored the direct advocacy approach, the
recent changes both in-house and outside have caused
us to reexamine our current practice and policies and to
provide enhanced training to all staff related to this issue.

A case demonstrating advocacy on behalf of a child’s
wishes involved three JRP offices collaborating on a case
for Q. JRP’s successful outcome after a dispositional
hearing which lasted over 2 months resulted in our 13
year old client being released from detention and
returned to a prior foster home with a mentoring
program. Q was first a client of our Brooklyn office on a
neglect case where he was removed from his home for a
number of months and then later returned to his mother
who was living in a shelter with his siblings and receiving
services from ACS. Shortly after his return, Q was arrested
several times in Manhattan and in Staten Island, which
resulted in him being ordered to secure detention. After
findings on both cases, Q remained in secure detention

-

Park. It was a great opportunity for Legal Aid Staff working in conjunction with neighborhood social services providers to offer
clients and their families information about, and access to, resources focusing on health and wellness. Through events like Field
Day, The Legal Aid Society provides additional assistance to families and addresses their needs in the community.
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and seemed headed for a Close to Home placement, in
part because one of the judges deemed his mother an
unacceptable custodian. The JRP team sprang into action
and developed a plan to get Q back to his old foster father
by going to court to modify the Brooklyn neglect
disposition to placement instead of release to his mother.
JRP successfully argued a motion for a restrictive foster
care placement with this former foster father over the
objection of ACS. This plan led to Q’s acceptance into one
of Probation’s mentoring and supervision programs. JRP
then successfully convinced the prosecutor and judge in
the Manhattan case to agree with this plan by
presenting compelling evidence which included both ACS
and Probation testimony, as well as expert testimony.The
last piece of the puzzle fell into place when JRP convinced
the Staten Island prosecutor and judge to go along with
the plan and Q was finally released and placed with his
foster father, the outcome Q wanted.

In addition to our legal
representation, JRP has always sought to enhance the
quality and expand the scope of its advocacy through the
development of several specialized units. The Juvenile
Services Unit (JSU), our social work component, was
formed as a result of the pioneering work of JRP in
teaming social workers with lawyers in order to
adequately address the educational, social, and
psychological issues that arise in Family Court
proceedings. The Kathryn A. McDonald Education
Advocacy Project (EAP) provides specialized legal and
social work assistance in cases requiring educational
advocacy. Our Adolescent Practice Teams (APT) in each
borough have garnered the expertise to provide the
representation necessary to ensure clients who are aging
out of the foster care system receive the entitlements
required by law and regulations. Additionally, these
Teams have been able to offer all LAS staff their expert
knowledge regarding these issues via trainings and
through the development of standardized motion
practice documents available to JRP staff as well as
attorneys for children citywide.

Our Trauma Advocacy Project works under a similar
concept in which a team of staff in each borough has
developed a particular expertise in working with children
who are the subject of difficult abuse cases. This Project
has developed interview protocols, court documents, and
a vetted list of abuse experts for consultation and
testimony purposes, as well as a comprehensive
compendium of the best service providers for these
children and their families. JRP’s investigatory expertise
and effective outreach proved to be critical in an alleged
abuse case. This case involved an eight-month-old child
who suffered an orbital fracture without an explanation

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

from the parents that was consistent with the injury. The
parents were cooperative with ACS and our office, as well
as the Special Victims Unit of the police department. The
father disclosed that the child had fallen from the bed
but since he landed on the back of his head, and not on
his face, and he seemed fine afterwards, the father did
not disclose this to the mother as he did not think it was
significant. A doctor who saw the child and briefly met
the parents, decided that it was a non-accidental injury
and did not believe the father’s explanation could have
caused the injury. When the officers from the special
victims unit went to the home they saw an extension
cord by the bed and concluded that the baby could have
fallen on it hitting his face before landing on the back of
his head. JRP staff looked at all the discovery, including
pictures of the home, and contacted Dr. Grimm from the
New York Center for Children to request an expert review
of all the records as well as an interview with the parents.
Based on Dr. Grimm'’s report and our own investigation
it was determined that the injury was accidental. ACS
and the doctor at the hospital reconsidered the matter
based on Dr. Grimm’s investigation, and as a result agreed
to parole the child back to his parents.

As in previous years, JRP’s Appeals Unit, which represents
clients throughout the appeals process, continues to
literally “make the law” that governs juvenile court
proceedings in New York. With an impressive list of
successes this Unit also provides all JRP staff as well as
other attorney for the child practitioners with legal
advice and counsel on individual cases as well asand
consultation and training on creating the most effective
record for clients.

An example of effective appellate advocacy involved
three JRP clients whose parents had cooperated and
completed all the requirements of the court and ACS, but
were being required to remain in foster care. JRP
advocacy resulted in a reversal of a Family Court
dispositional order stating that the children could not
move to Virginia with their parents without an Interstate
Compact being completed which would have resulted in
a significant delay in the move, and a longer time in
foster care for the children.The Appellate Division issued
an order consistent with JRP’s position directing that the
children be released to the custody of their parents “with
the supervision of a child protective agency” and granted
the parents permission to move with the children to
Virginia where the father had family and employment,
without approval under the Interstate Compact on the
Placement of Children. JRP’s request that the parents
were to cooperate with ACS supervision by, among other
things, bringing the children to New York once a month
for six months to meet with their caseworker and



attorney, was granted. JRP trial and appellate advocacy
resulted in these children being reunited with their
parents in a timely manner, and allowed the family to
relocate to Virginia where their chances at succeeding
were significantly greater.

The Special Litigation and Law Reform Unit continues to
bring class action lawsuits and other litigation aimed at
system-wide abuses within the juvenile justice, child
welfare and educational systems, and has had a very
productive year which has seen the settlement of two
significant systemic issues affecting foster children
throughout the City. Additionally, JRP staff remains
involved in numerous and varied community endeavors
to ensure we reach beyond the courthouse to
comprehensively serve our clients and their families.

The
depth and breadth of the practice at JRP continues to
grow to meet the ever-changing needs of our clients. In
an effort to effectuate systemic and policy decision-
making affecting our clients, JRP participates in
numerous City, State and national forums and groups to
improve practice. For example, JRP staff serves as a
member of the New York State Steering Committee on
Juvenile Justice Reform as the only representative with a
defense perspective, the New York City Dispositional
Reform Steering Committee, again the sole defense bar
member, the Family Court Operational Review Steering
Committee, the New York State Bar Association Task Force
on Family Court as a co-chair of the sub-committee on
Family Court Resources, the New York City and State
Disproportionate Minority Contact Committees, New
York City’s Child Welfare Executive Committee and the
New York City Juvenile Justice Advisory Committee.

JRP continues to speak both locally and nationally on
issues related to child welfare and juvenile justice. JRP
staff members were featured speakers at the National
Juvenile Defender Summit, discussing, among other
things, juvenile justice reform and the use of data in
policy decision-making. Additionally, a JRP member
spoke at the American Bar Association’s Right to Counsel
Symposium, highlighting New York’s strong right to
counsel position for children and discussed the client case
cap Court Rule which limits the number of clients an
attorney may have at a given time. We also addressed the
development of direct advocacy guidelines and were
invited to be part of a small national group to develop
and present priorities to the new head of the Office of
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention in the U.S.
Attorney General’s office.

Additionally, there has been considerable focus at the City
and State levels on the very complicated issue of ensuring

that our clients have a greater presence in court during
their cases. To address this issue a committee of JRP
managers and staff has worked the past year developing
new guidelines and a training module to guide staff on
having children appear in court on their cases.
Traditionally, while allowed to attend their court
hearings, with the exception of some adolescents during
permanency hearings, children are not usually present.
In an effort to allow children to have their own voice
heard in the proceedings that affect their life, JRP decided
to revisit the issue of children in court, and develop a
protocol for how and when to have clients participate in
the court process.

A further example of our collaborative efforts is JRP’s
LGBT Committee which continues to work with the Legal
Aid LGBT Practice and Policy Initiative on making sure we
are all capable and competent in working with our LGBT
clients. Additionally, a JRP committee of staff and
managers has developed and implemented training for
all staff on interviewing clients on sensitive issues. The
committee finalized a PowerPoint presentation that was
presented to all staff as a mandatory training and will
now become part of required initial training for new staff.
The training deals with how and when to ask questions
that are sensitive in nature, and provides staff and
managers with the tools necessary to make decisions
about whether to ask questions regarding sensitive
topics and how to ask them if they are necessary to the
representation of a client.

This past year JRP concluded the
work of a staff/management Post-Dispositional Practice
Committee which has made recommendations about
how we can best follow up on and advocate for our
clients after disposition. These recommendations will
now be implemented as new Post-Dispositional Practice
Expectations that will insure consistent follow up with
all of our clients whether they receive a dismissal,
community-based disposition or placement disposition.
The goals of these new expectations are:

1 ensuring compliance with court orders;

2 ensuring that appropriate educational
and/or other services are obtained;

3 ensuring humane treatment and
appropriate conditions of confinement;

4 preparing for/preventing violations of
probation, modification and revocation
hearings;

5 helping clients to prepare for
reentry/discharge; and

6 helping clients clear their delinquency
records in the future, whenever possible.
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In addition, we began a new Detention Visiting Project.
As part of our ongoing efforts to provide even greater
client service, we sought a way to provide more
frequent contacts with our clients who are in detention.
Because of the stress and time pressures on court dates,
clients are often confused about what occurred, have
difficulty remembering explanations that were given
and have questions about the future. More detention
visits will ameliorate some of these problems and
enhance the relationship with the client

As in past years, JRP continues to be a leader in the field
of child representation. Whether it is achieving positive
results for our clients in our trial offices, our numerous
appellate successes, fighting for the rights of all children
in the child welfare and juvenile justice system through
our impact and policy advocacy representation, or
lending our expert voice to reform efforts both locally
and nationally, our goal remains clear: to offer our
clients the most comprehensive legal representation
possible as they and their families navigate the social
and court systems with which they are involved.

Through the long-standing use of interdisciplinary
collaboration, innovative projects serving a particular
subset of clients, and intense training and supervision,
the clients of the Juvenile Rights Practice benefit from
a Practice that is committed to client-directed
representation and to the ideal that each child,
individually, has a right to be heard regarding the
important decisions being made that will affect their
lives for a long time to come. There is no substitute for
counsel in the complicated child welfare and juvenile
justice systems. Simply put, JRP plays a vital role in the
Family Court where interests often collide and the legal
rights and wishes of the child must take center stage in
all decisions being made.
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For the past four years, the Bronx office of The Legal Aid
Society’s Juvenile Rights Practice and the Civil Practice
have sponsored a Happy, Healthy Safe Families Fair at the
Bronx Family Court during the month of April which is
National Child Abuse Prevention Month. This year’s fair
had more than 30 presenters from the Bronx, including
staff from the Society’s Civil and Juvenile Rights Practices
who provided literature about the Society’s services and
answered questions from Bronx residents with court
cases. The children enjoyed crafts and face painting.
Barbara Stock, a Supervising Attorney in the Bronx JRP
office, shares a puzzle with one of the children.



HOLIDAY PARTY FOR HOMELESS AND
OTHER VULNERABLE CHILDREN

For the 31st year, The Legal Aid Society sponsored a holiday party for 500 homeless and other vulnerable children
and their families in Synod Hall on the grounds of the Cathedral of St.John the Divine.

Special thanks to members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Advisers for their generous contributions. We
also thank the following firms whose outstanding donations of toys, books, games and volunteers made it possible
for the children and their families to enjoy the happiness of the holiday season:
CRAVATH, SWAINE & MOoORE LLP; Davis PoLk & WARDWELL LLP; HuGHES HuBBARD & REED LLP;
MiLBANK, TWEED, HADLEY & McCLoY LLP; MoRrviLLo, ABRAMOWITZ, GRAND, IAsoN & ANELLO P.C.; ScHOLASTIC BOOKS;
SHEARMAN & STERLING LLP; SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP; SuLLIVAN & CROMWELL LLP; WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KaTz.

The New Amsterdam Singers and Legal Aid’s own Chief Human Resources Officer Allan Fox entertained
the children. Terri and Richard Kim donated the hundreds of items for the crafts table which is a major
attraction at the party. Photographs of the children and the wonderful volunteers from the firms and The
Legal Aid Society are on the Society’s website on the flickr section www.legal-aid.org You can see the happy faces
and know that you are responsible for the smiles and laughter. We thank you so much for caring.

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY




2014 PRO BONO PUBLICO AWARDS

With Chief Judge Lippman are (from left)
Louis Sartori, Director of the Pro Bono
Program at Legal Aid; Richard J. Davis,
Chairman of the LAS Board; Victor Hou, a
partner at Cleary and a Director of the
Society; Cleary's Pro Bono Practice
Director Jennifer Kroman; New York Pro
Bono Committee Chair Roger Cooper; Pro
Bono Coordinator Akilah Browne; Chief
Judge Lippman; Legal Aid President Fin
Fogg; and Seymour W. James, Ir,
Attorney-in-Chief.

York, presented pro bono awards on October 8, at The Legal Aid

Society's 2014 Pro Bono Publico Awards ceremony in recognition of
the outstanding contributions made by lawyers and law firms to the
cause of equal access to justice for all New Yorkers.

The Honorable Jonathan Lippman, Chief Judge of the State of New

For 138 years, the major New York City law firms have served as partners
with The Legal Aid Society in securing the fundamental legal rights of
low-income New Yorkers in critical need of counsel but unable to afford
it through pro bono service and by sustaining the work of the Civil
Practice. The Legal Aid Society's 2014 Pro Bono Publico Awards epitomize |
the enduring strength of this partnership, delivering life-changing legal =
assistance to our City's most vulnerable residents.

PRO BONO PUBLICO AND PUBLIC SERVICE LAW FIRM AWARD
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton was honored for its exceptional pro bono commitment to The Legal Aid
Society and our clients. Under the leadership of New York Pro Bono Committee Chair Roger Cooper, Legal
Aid Society Board Member Victor Hou, Pro Bono Practice Director Jennifer Kroman and Pro Bono
Coordinator Akilah Browne, the attorneys, legal assistants and administrative staff at Cleary have
demonstrated a sustained commitment to meet the needs of the less fortunate in New York City. By
making significant contributions of both time and talent, these dedicated professionals, working alongside
Society staff, help ensure that no New Yorker be denied access to justice because of poverty.

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW LEADERSHIP AWARD
Sharon Katz, Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

INNOVATIVE PRO BONO ASSISTANCE TO THE

LEGAL AID SOCIETY AND ITS CLIENTS
Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP
Chadbourne & Parke LLP
Ropes & Gray LLP
Stout Risius Ross, Inc.
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SUSTAINING LAW FIRMS

Firms. These firms sustain the work of The Legal Aid Society by contributing at a leadership level

T he Legal Aid Society acknowledges the outstanding support and dedication of the Sustaining Law
of $600 per attorney in their New York offices.

The support of the Sustaining Law Firms enables The Legal Aid Society’s Civil Practice to provide legal
representation to the most vulnerable New Yorkers, including: senior citizens, survivors of domestic
violence, persons living with HIV/AIDS, homeless and immiently homeless families and individuals,
adults and children living with disabilities, immigrants, and low-income wage earners.

The support of the Sustaining Law Firms helps to ensure that poverty is not a barrier to accessing the

justice system.

Arnold & Porter LLP

Baker & Hostetler LLP

Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
BuckleySandler LLP

Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP
Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP
Chadbourne & Parke LLP

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP
Cooley LLP

Covington & Burling LLP

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

Debevoise & Plimpton LLP

Dechert LLP

DLA Piper LLP (US)

Fitzpatrick, Cella, Harper & Scinto
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP
Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP

Goodwin Procter LLP

Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP

Jones Day

Kasowitz, Benson, Torres & Friedman LLP
Kaye Scholer LLP

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

Kobre & Kim LLP

Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP
Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP

Latham & Watkins LLP

Mayer Brown LLP

Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
Morvillo Abramowitz Grand lason & Anello P.C
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP
Proskauer Rose LLP

Ropes & Gray LLP

Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP

Shearman & Sterling LLP

Sidley Austin LLP

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP

Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

White & Case LLP

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
Winston & Strawn LLP

Wollmuth Maher & Deutsch LLP
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THANK YOU TO OUR SUPPORTERS

e are deeply grateful to the law firms, corporations, foundations and individuals for their support of The
Legal Aid Society and our core principle that no New Yorker should be denied access to justice because
of poverty. We are especially grateful to our Sustaining Law Firms for their steadfast annual support.

The Legal Aid Society wishes to also recognize the members of the New Leadership Program (NLP) for their
enthusiastic support of the Society’s mission over the last year. The NLP builds on our traditional Associates’
Campaign for law firm associates with its innovative program comprised of young professionals from the legal,
financial, business and arts communities who have chosen the Society as one of their primary philanthropic
commitments. We thank the founding members of the New Leadership Board for their insight and generosity
and for being enthusiastic ambassadors of our mission. As this program continues to grow, we are excited to
welcome the next generation of dedicated young professionals.

Each year, the Society works on over 300,000 individual legal matters and provides law reform representation
which benefits all two million low-income children and adults in New York City and has both a Statewide and a
national impact. Our efforts in each of the five boroughs of the City to provide comprehensive legal assistance

and community-based services could not have been realized without the commitment of all of our supporters.

Thank you for helping us make a difference in the lives of low-income New Yorkers.

SUSTAINING LAwW FIRMS

Arnold & Porter LLP

Baker & Hostetler LLP

Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP

BuckleySandler LLP

Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft LLP

Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP

Chadbourne & Parke LLP

Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

Cooley LLP

Covington & Burling LLP

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

Debevoise & Plimpton LLP

Dechert LLP

DLA Piper LLP (US)

Fitzpatrick, Cella, Harper & Scinto

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP

Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP

Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP

Goodwin Procter LLP

Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP

Jones Day

Kasowitz, Benson, Torres & Friedman LLP

Kaye Scholer LLP

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

Kobre & Kim LLP

Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP

Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP

Latham & Watkins LLP

Mayer Brown LLP

Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP

Morvillo Abramowitz Grand lason &
Anello P.C

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP

Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP

Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP

Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP

Proskauer Rose LLP

Ropes & Gray LLP

Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP

Shearman & Sterling LLP
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Sidley Austin LLP

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP

Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

White & Case LLP

Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP

Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
Winston & Strawn LLP

Wollmuth Maher & Deutsch LLP

INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT
$500,000+

Robin Hood Foundation

Robin Hood Foundation/Single Stop USA, Inc.

$100,000 to $499,999

Apollo Global Management, LLC
BNY Mellon

Center for Urban Community Services, Inc.

Chelsea Relief Fund

The Fund for New Citizens

Jacob and Valeria Langeloth Foundation
Henry & Lucy Moses Fund, Inc.

The New York Community Trust

NoVo Foundation

The Oak Foundation

Scherman Foundation, Inc.

$50,000 to $99,999

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP

BNY Mellon Community Partnership

The Flom Family Foundation

Bernard F.and Alva B. Gimbel Foundation, Inc.

The Charles Evans Hughes Memorial
Foundation, Inc.

MAC AIDS Fund

MasterCard Worldwide

Ambrose Monell Foundation

Skadden Fellowship Foundation

The Travelers Companies, Inc.

$25,000 to $49,999

Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP
Estate of Nahum A. Bernstein
Bryan Cave LLP

Compass Lexecon

The Durst Family Foundation
EisnerAmper LLP

Equal Justice Works

The Estée Lauder Companies, Inc.
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
Joseph Hage Aaronson LLC

Kids in Need of Defense

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC

Pfizer, Inc.

Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP
Viacom Inc.

The White & Case Foundation

$10,000 to $24,999

Alvarez & Marsal

Aon

Avenue Capital Group

Bank of America

Carter Ledyard & Milburn LLP
Charles River Associates

Citi Private Bank

Continental Grain Company
Deloitte & Touche LLPF

The Edouard Foundation Inc.
EqualJustice America

Hagedorn & Company

The Peter Jennings Foundation, Inc.
JPMorgan Chase & Co.

Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP
Kurtz Family Foundation

The Lucius N. Littauer Foundation
MacAndrews & Forbes Holding Inc.
McGladrey LLP

The Mindich Family Foundation
Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky & Popeo, PC.
Mount Sinai Health System
National Football League
Newmark Grubb Knight Frank



The Neuberger Berman Foundation
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Redlich Horowitz Foundation

Reed Smith LLP

Seeger Weiss LLP

Sutherland, Asbill & Brennan LLP

Time Warner Inc.

Virtu Financial LLC

Voya Financial

The Isak and Rose Weinman Foundation, Inc.

$5,000 to $9,999

The Milton & Jena Berlinski Foundation

Credit Suisse

Crowell & Moring LLP

Davidson, Dawson & Clark LLP

Davis Wright Tremaine LLP

Duane Morris LLP

Charles A. Frueauff Foundation, Inc.

Goldin Associates, LLC

Peter and Helen Haje Foundation

Howkins Charitable Fund

Marjorie S.Isaac Charitable Lead Annuity
Trust

Jack Resnick & Sons, Inc.

Charles S. Keene Foundation

Kekst and Company

Sidney & Judith Kranes Charitable Trust

The Alice Lawrence Foundation

The Leon Levy Foundation

Luskin, Stern & Eisler LLP

Manatt, Phelps & Phillips, LLP

Mercer Health & Benefits LLC

The Morrison & Foerster Foundation

John O’Connor Charitable Gift Fund

Seyfarth Shaw LLP

William and Sylvia Silberstein Foundation, Inc.

United HealthCare Services, Inc.

$1,000 to $4,999

The Abbey/Dietz Family Fund

Analysis Group, Inc.

The Howard Bayne Fund

Belson Family Fund

Bloomberg L.P.

Brooklyn Community Foundation

Brunswick Group LLC

CBRE Group, Inc.

The Cameron Clark Memorial Fund

The Jonathan L. Cohen Foundation

Jacques & Emy Cohenca Foundation, Inc.

Corporation Service Company

The Cowles Charitable Trust

Dentons

Howard L. Ellin Charitable Trust

Estate of Julius A. Epstein

The Evangelakos Family Charitable Fund

The Fascitelli Family Foundation

Fross Zelnick Lehrman & Zissu, PC.

Gloria and Barry H. Garfinkel Fund

Edward and Marjorie Goldberger
Foundation

Goldfarb & Fleece LLP

Jon & Mindy Gray Family Foundation

Green Fund, Inc.

Gregory Residence LLC

Herrick, Feinstein LLP

Huron Consulting Group Inc.

IA Capital Group

Jacobs/Walker Family Fund

Kornblau Family Foundation

Labaton Sucharow LLP

Ruth Norden Lowe and Warner L. Lowe
Memorial Fund

Lowry Family Fund

Alfred, Lee and Peter Mayer Foundation

The Vincent Mulford Foundation

Nardello & Co.

Frances E. and Frederic S. Nathan
Philanthropic Fund

NERA Economic Consulting

New York Business Development
Corporation Foundation

Ursula Newton Fund

Nixon Peabody LLP

Ken and Simona Peterson Fund

Posel Foundation

Posner-Wallace Foundation

Rosen Livingston & Cholst LLP

Alfred and Jane Ross Foundation, Inc.

Eric and Laurie Roth Charitable Fund

A & J Saks Foundation Inc.

Moses Silverman and Betty Robbins
Charitable Gift Fund

Peter and Susan Solomon Family
Foundation

Steptoe & Johnson LLP

Lynn S. Stern Fund

Stout Risius Ross, Inc.

Trepper Family Fund

The Tufenkian Foundation

Venable LLP

Vinson & Elkins LLP

Murray and Phyllis Warschauer Fund

Zuckerman and Spaeder LLP

Cy PrRes AWARDS

Cozen O’Connor

Fox Rothchild LLP

Law Offices of William F. Horn

Lemberg & Associates L.L.C.

Milberg LLP

Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP

Wolf Haldenstein Adler Freeman & Herz LLP

INDIVIDUAL SUPPORT
$25,000+

Anonymous

$10,000 to $24,999

Eugene F. Assaf, Esq. and Liz McHenry
Stuart J. Baskin, Esq. and Linda Lennon
Debra and Leon D.Black

Richard J. Davis, Esg. and Nancy R. Davis
Marcy Engel, Esq. and Stuart M. Cobert, Esq.
Diane and Blaine Fogg

Elaine P. Golin, Esq.

Noah J. Hanft, Esq.

Michal Katcher, Esq. and Daniel Katcher
Daniel F.Kolb, Esq.and Ann C. Kolb

Susan B.Lindenauer and Arthur A. Lindenauer
Margery and Ted Mayer

Sara E. Moss, Esq.

Clare O'Brien, Esg.and Peter M. Taubman, Esg.
Vincent Pagano, Jr, Esq. and Pam Pagano
A.Robert Pietrzak, Esq.

Bradley I. Ruskin, Esq. and Susan B. Ruskin
Elizabeth and Robert C. Sheehan

Jill and Jeremy Temkin

Marc Wolinsky and Barry M. Skovgaard

$5,000 to $9,999
Anonymous
Nicholas M. Cannella, Esq.
Pamela R. Chepiga, Esq.and
Michael J. Chepiga, Esq.
Douglas F. Curtis, Esq. and Michaeline Curtis
Mary P. Davis and Wesley P. Callender
William R. Dougherty, Esq. and Tara Dougherty
Martin Elias
Haliburton Fales I, Esq.
Robert A. Fippinger, Esq. and Ann F. Kaplan
EricJ. Friedman, Esqg. and Lori O. Friedman
Matthew S. Furman, Esg. and
Judith Bryna Hecker
Willis J. Goldsmith, Esg. and
Marilynn J. Goldsmith
Mark P. Goodman, Esq.
Morton E. Grosz, Esq. and Judith Grosz
James D. Herschlein, Esq.and
Marilyn Herschlein
David G. Hille, Esq. and Marcella Hille
Michele S. Hirshman, Esg. and
Russell G. Pearce, Esq.
Mel and Barbara Lyne Immergut
David G.Januszewski, Esq.and
Kim Januszewski
Leigh R. Lasky, Esq.
Alan Levine and Alison Newman
Janet Mardfin
Gregory A. Markel, Esq. and Belinda Markel
Aaron Marks, Esq.
Randy M. Mastro, Esq. and
Jonine L. Bernstein, PhD
William G. McGuinness, Esq.
Mark J. Menting, Esq.and Laura J. Wilson
Julie North, Esq. and William V. Fogg, Esq.
Martin Nussbaum, Esq.and
Kane Nussbaum
Pearl Polifka, Esq. and Robert Polifka, Esq.
Linda E.Rappaport, Esq.and
Leonard Chazen, Esq.
Richard A.Rothman, Esq. and
Melissa Salten Rothman, Esq.
Miles N. Ruthberg, Esq. and
Catherine Schreiber
Marcia and Jerome Schorr
Gloria and Alan Siegel
Gary Stein, Esg.and Ana D. Stein
Lori S.and Charles Weinstein
Lawrence E.Wieman, Esq.
Michael E. Wiles, Esq. and Geraldine Wiles
Peter S. Wilson, Esq.

$1,000 to $4,999

Sheldon Adler, Esq.

Amanda K. Allexon, Esq.

Colby Allsbrook, Esq.

David E. Aman, Esg.and
Mary Margaret Aman

Stella Amar, Esq.

Anonymous

Tracy O. Appleton, Esq.

Ralph R. Arditi, Esq. and Robin S. Arditi, Esq.

Ellen L. Asher

John and Diane Asiel

Peter Atkins, Esq.

Martin Auerbach, Esq.and Denise Auerbach

Douglas Bacon, Esq.

Honorable Phylis Skloot Bamberger and
Michael Bamberger, Esq.

Leta M. Barry, Esq.
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Christine and Ronald J. Bass
Daniel J. Beller, Esg. and Lynn F. Beller, Esq.
Rodman W. Benedict, Esq.
Bradley I. Berger, Esq.
Max W. Berger, Esq.
James M. Bergin, Esq.and Ellen P. Lukens
Kenneth J. Bialkin, Esq.
Peter A. Bicks, Esg.and Linda D. Bicks
Steven M. Bierman, Esq. and Jerrily Fleisher
Lewis Black
John W. Bloom
Helen Bodian and Roger E. Alcaly
Charles W. Bradley, Esq. and Dolores C. Bradley
Adam R.Brebner, Esq.
Mallory Brennan, Esq.
Betsy Pierce Britton, Esq.
Lara Samet Buchwald, Esq.
Michael Bullerman, Esq.
Kathryn Ann Campbell, Esq.
Ellen Capra and James J. Capra, Jr, Esq.
William F. Cavanaugh, Jr,, Esq.
Thomas M. Cerabino
James Chambers
AlecY.Chang, Esq.
Lisa E. Cleary, Esq. and Warren Stone, Esq.
Eric L. Cochran, Esq. and Stacy S. Cochran
Joseph A. Coco, Esq.
Dennis O. Cohen, Esq.
Allison and Timothy R. Coleman
Christopher P. Conniff, Esq.
Michael A. Cooper, Esq.and Nan R. Cooper
Heather Cruz, Esq.
Paul C. Curnin, Esq.
Mary R. D'Agostino, Esq.and Steven J. Lee, PhD
Debra A. Dandeneau, Esq. and Jeffrey Matchen
George A. Davidson, Esg.and
Annette L. Davidson
Leslie A. Deich
Jessica Delbaum, Esq.
Elizabeth K. Derbes, Esq.
Gandolfo V. DiBlasi, Esq.
Steven S. DiCesare, Esq.
Samuel J. Dimon, Esq. and Cheryl Dimon
Margaret H. Douglas-Hamilton, Esq.
Sean C. Doyle, Esq.
Morris D. Dunn, Esqg. and Jill L. Dunn
Christopher W. Dysard, Esq.
Elizabeth M. Ehrenfeld
Pamela L. Endreny, Esg.and Ray Endreny
R.Bradford Evans
Natasha Fapohunda, Esq.
Joyce Penn Farnsworth, Esq. and
Clifford Young
Steven L. Fasman, Esq.and Carol Fasman
Andrew M. Faulkner
Ellen L. Federman-Conklin
Warren L. Feldman, Esq.
Seth Fier, Esq.
Brad J. Finkelstein, Esq.
Stuart M. Finkelstein, Esqg.and
Beth Finkelstein
Eric H. Fisher, Esq.
Valerie L. Fitch, Esq. and Edward Flanders, Esq.
Lance Fletcher, Esq.
Blake Walters Foote and Andrew Swift Foote
Elizabeth K. and Michael J. Foster
Barbara Friedberg
Barbara T. Friedman, Esg.and
Frederic N. Busch, MD
John L. Gardiner, Esq.
Loraine F. Gardner
David R. Gelfand, Esq.and Katherine M. Gelfand
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Franklin M. Gittes, Esq. and Marie H. Gittes
Jeffrey Glekel, Esg. and Cynthia R. Leder
Melissa J. Godwin, Esq.
Jay M. Goffman, Esq. and Susan Goffman
Harriet L. Goldberg, Esq.
Wendy M. Goldberg, Esq.
Bruce Goldner, Esq.
Robert Goldstein, Esq.
Steven F. Goldstone, Esq. and
Elizabeth Goldstone
Philip L. Graham, Jr,, Esg. and
Eileen Chiu Graham
Robert M. Grass, Esq.
Ward A. Greenberg, Esq. and
Marlene Van Dyk Greenberg
Daniel Greene
Peter E. Greene, Esg. and Beth Greene
Paula S. Greenman, Esq.
Joan B. Gross, Esq. and Stuart J. Gross, Esq.
Christopher J. Gunther, Esq.
Terence C. Hagerty, Esq.
Patricia G. Hammes, Esq.
Serena B. Harding-Jones and William D. Lese
Philip H. Harris, Esq. and Judith S. Grossman
Elizabeth A. Hay, Esq.
Ricki Tigert Helfer, Esq. and
Michael S. Helfer, Esq.
Robert E. Helpern, Esq. and
Jacqueline E. Helpern
Matthew P. Hendrickson, Esq. and
Karen Hendrickson
David C. Hepp, Esq.
Tracy Richelle High, Esq.
Crystal Ho
Jonathan M. Hoff, Esq. and Judy L. Hoff
Michael K. Hoffman, Esq.
Steven L. Holley, Esq.
Wade S. Hooker, Jr.,Esq. and Susan L. Hooker
Victor L. Hou, Esq.
Lawrence D. Hui, Esq.
Emily Huters, Esq.
Matthew D. Ingber, Esq.and Michelle Ingber
J. Eric Ivester, Esq.
Charlie Jacob, Esg.
Jesse J.and Tyler W. Jenner
Richard T. Joffe, Esq.
Meredith B.Jones, Esq.
Allen S.Joslyn, Esq.
Robert J. Jossen, Esg. and Roni B.Jossen
Thomas Kahn, MD and Simi Kahn
Daniel B. Kamensky, Esq. and
Amy Blumenfeld Kamensky
Stacy J. Kanter, Esq. and Eric M. Kornblau, Esq.

Helene L. Kaplan, Esg.and Mark N. Kaplan, Esg.

Robert M. Kaufman, Esq.
Bruce E. Kayle, Esq.and Sarah L. Kayle
The Honorable Judith S. Kaye
H. David Kellman, MD
Thomas H. Kennedy, Esq.
Charles L. Kerr, Esq. and Heather Thomas
Jeffrey L. Kessler, Esq. and Regina D. Kessler
Louis B. Kimmelman, Esq. and
Joy B.Kimmelman
John J.Kirby, Jr, Esq. and Susan R. Cullman
Steven G. Kobre, Esq.
Kristine M. Koren, Esq.
David L. Kornblau, Esq.and
Susannah T. Gardiner
Barbara and Mark Kronman
Gary W. Kubek Esq.
Lea H. Kuck, Esg. and Thomas A. Kuck
Amy B.Kuhn, Esq. and Stuart L. Rosow, Esq.

Arthur Lander, MD, PhD
Jaime L. Lavin, Esq.
Marta Jo Lawrence
Michael Lebowitz
Walter F. Leinhardt, Esq.
Abhay D. Lele, Esq. and Amy L. Johnson
Karen Hoffman Lent, Esq.
Andrew J. Levander, Esg.and
Carol A. Loewenson
Arlene and Jerome L. Levine
Theodore A. Levine, Esq. and Lucia D.Swanson
Zhuo Jun Jennifer Lim, Esq.
Joseph A. Lipari, Esq. and Louise E. Tranford
Amy G.and Steven Lipin
Matthew L. Lippert, Esq.
William F. Lloyd, Esq. and Diane V. Lloyd
John D. Lobrano, Esq. and Helen M. Lobrano
Cynthia A. Loomis, MD, PhD and
Joseph E.Neuhaus, Esq.
Paola Lozano, Esq.
Stanley N. Lupkin, Esg.and Anne R. Lupkin
Brian G. Lustbader, Esq.
Gary G. Lynch, Esq.
Susan Lyne
John A.Mackinnon, Esq.and Anne Mackinnon
Alex Maffeo
Christopher P. Malloy, Esq.
Nandini Mani, Esq.
Laura Lewis Mantell, MD and
Alan M. Mantell, Esq.
Kayalyn A. Marafioti, Esq. and
David R. Marshall, Esq.
Neil R. Markel, Esq.
The Honorable John S. Martin, Jr.and
Margaret M. Martin
David W. Mayo, Esq. and Carol A. Quinn, Esq.
Mark A. McDermott, Esq.
Matthew McFarlane, Esq. and
Jennifer E. Nadeau
Martha McMaster and Sheldon Evans
David T. McTaggart, Esq.
David Meister, Esq. and Lotte Meister
Roger Meltzer, Esq. and Robin Meltzer
Dennis N. Mensch
Ari Mentzel
Neil M. Merkl, Esg. and Lorraine Duffy Merkl
Ricardo A. Mestres, Jr, Esq.and Ann Mestres
Pamela A. Miller, Esq.
J. Gregory Milmoe, Esq.and Susan D. Milmoe
Erin R. Miner Esqg. and Aaron Miner, Esq.
Robert P. Mollen, Esq.
Harold F. Moore, Esq.and Mary Ann Moore
Jonathan M. Moses, Esq. and Abigail Y. Moses
Mary A. Mullin, Esq.
Timothy H. Murphy, Esqg. and
Marion M. Murphy
Scott D. Musoff, Esq.and Cindy Ellen Musoff
William C. Mutterperl, Esq.
Steven F.Napolitano, Esq. and Linda Hughes
Henry N. Nassau, Esq.
Sherry L. Norris and John H. Bauman
G.Daniel O'Donnell, Esq.
Augustus K. Oliver, II, Esq. and
Elizabeth R. Oliver
Jeanne C. Olivier, Esq.
Regina Olshan, Esq.and Yves Cantin
Angela M. Papalaskaris, Esq.
Ernest T. Patrikis, Esq. and Emily H.Trueblood
Carol J. Patterson, Esq.
William J. Perlstein, Esq. and Teresa L. Perlstein
Bettina B. Plevan, Esq.and
Kenneth A.Plevan, Esq.



Roger E. Podesta, Esq.
Brian H. Polovoy, Esq.
Stephen E. Poltrack, Esq. and Gael H. Poltrack
Jeffrey Pote, Esq.
Paul J. Powers, Jr., Esq.
Katherine L. Pringle, Esq.
Orah and Joseph J. Raia
Lorraine and Sal Randazzo
Victoria Reese
Sharyl Reisman
Deborah J.Rennels
David M. Rievman, Esq. and Anne Oh
Timothy A. Robert
Stephen C.Robinson, Esq.
Risa M. Rosenberg, Esq.
Steven B.Rosenfeld, Esq. and Joan Rosenfeld
William A. Roskin, Esq.
Michael B. Rothfeld
Scott H. Rothstein, Esq. and Elizabeth P.Troop
Alyssa Rower, Esq.
Joseph N.Sacca, Esq.
Beverly and Raymond R. Sackler, MD
Frederick P. Schaffer, Esq. and Barbara Schatz
Andrew H. Schapiro, Esq.
Katherine Locker Scharlatt and
Nicholas Scharlatt
Jennifer Schneck
Karen A. McLaughlin and Mark I. Schubin
Michael Schussler, Esq.
Helfried J. Schwarz, Esq.
Nancy R. Schwartz
Seth M. Schwartz, Esq.
Steven C. Schwartz, Esq.
William J. Schwartz, Esq.
Howard Seife, Esq. and Amy Seife
David J. Sheehan, Esq.
Jane Sherburne, Esq.and
Bob Van Heuvelen, Esq.
Dean S.Shulman, Esg. and Carren Shulman
Leon L. Silverman, Esq. and Rita Silverman

Lisa M. Sinsheimer, MD and
Alan J. Sinsheimer, Esq.
James S.Sligar, Esg.and Diana M. Sattelberger
Reed Smith, Esq.
Spencer G. Smul, Esq.
Andrew L. Sommer, Esq. and Susan L. Ross
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Garrison LLP, as the 2014 Servant of Justice Award recipient, and Joshua Harris, Co-Founder and Chief Investment Officer of
Apollo Global Management, as the recipent of the Theodore Roosevelt Award, was the most successful in the Society’s
history. The dinner was held at the Waldorf=Astoria.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors
The Legal Aid Society
New York, New York

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Legal Aid Society (the Society), which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2014, and the related statements of activities,
functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes to the financial
statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Society as of June 30, 2014 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the Society’s 2013 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified
audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated October 18, 2013. In our opinion,
the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

/f/% e

New York, New York
October 20, 2014

1

Member of the RSM International network of independent accounting, tax and consulting firms.



The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Financial Position
June 30, 2014
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2013)

2014 2013
Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 33,385,662 $ 37,191,294
Receivables From Grants and Governmental Contracts 24,005,339 14,375,626
Investments, at Fair Value 3,443,447 3,014,894
Deferred Charges and Other Assets 760,053 6,785,196
Property and Equipment, at Cost, Net 4,485,359 5,518,307
Total assets $ 66,079,860 $ 66,885,317
Liabilities and Net Asset Deficiency
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 2,216,493 $ 2,275,272
Accrued payroll and other employee expenses 27,067,562 25,668,702
Program advances 6,758,345 8,541,684
Accrued postretirement health and benefits cost 28,828,613 23,174,909
Pension liability 22,359,724 26,843,171
Deferred lease incentives and lease obligations 18,260,695 18,221,101
Total liabilities 105,491,432 104,724,839
Commitments and Contingencies
Net Assets
Unrestricted (44,200,149) (42,295,695)
Temporarily Restricted 2,722,554 2,390,150
Permanently Restricted 2,066,023 2,066,023
Total net asset deficiency (39,411,572) (37,839,522)
Total liabilities and net asset deficiency $ 66,079,860 $ 66,885,317

See Notes to Financial Statements.



The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2014

(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2013)

2014 2013
Summarized
Temporarily Permanently Comparative
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total
Support and Revenue
Program support and revenue:
Criminal Defense Practice $ 145,085,838 $ 362,881 $ - $ 145,448,719 $ 132,935,930
City One-time Funding - - - - 2,515,800
Juvenile Rights Practice 42,525,597 756,552 - 43,282,149 42,471,494
Civil Practice 18,216,245 3,014,498 - 21,230,743 19,728,111
Contributions (net of direct expenses
related to the benefit) 14,273,847 31,947 - 14,305,794 13,763,939
Return on investments, net 60,111 428,553 - 488,664 340,172
Court awards 202,595 - - 202,595 144,315
Other income 11,527 - - 11,527 1,271
Net assets released from restrictions -
satisfaction of program and time restrictions 4,262,027 (4,262,027) - - -
Total support and revenue before
in-kind contributions 224,637,787 332,404 - 224,970,191 211,901,032
Operating Expenses
Program services:
Criminal Defense Practice 132,206,170 - - 132,206,170 125,303,876
Juvenile Rights Practice 39,481,305 - - 39,481,305 40,953,711
Civil Practice 32,340,707 - - 32,340,707 31,564,209
Total program services before
in-kind contributions 204,028,182 - - 204,028,182 197,821,796
Supporting services: - -
Administrative expenses 13,066,261 - - 13,066,261 10,423,902
Fund-raising expenses 893,112 - - 893,112 874,877
Total supporting services 13,959,373 - - 13,959,373 11,298,779
Total operating expenses before
in-kind contributions 217,987,555 - - 217,987,555 209,120,575
Result of operations 6,650,232 332,404 - 6,982,636 2,780,457
In-Kind Contributions
Revenue from legal services 91,042,379 - - 91,042,379 73,928,629
Program expenses from legal services (91,042,379) - - (91,042,379) (73,928,629)
Revenue from other gift-in-kind contributions - - - - 5,993,235
Expense from other gift-in-kind contributions (5,993,235) - - (5,993,235) -
Total in-kind contributions (5,993,235) - - (5,993,235) 5,993,235
Change in net assets before pension
liability adjustment 656,997 332,404 - 989,401 8,773,692
Pension and Other Postretirement-Related Changes
Other Than Net Periodic Costs (2,561,451) - - (2,561,451) 11,011,162
Change in net assets (1,904,454) 332,404 - (1,572,050) 19,784,854
Net Assets (Deficiency)
Beginning (42,295,695) 2,390,150 2,066,023 (37,839,522) (57,624,376)
Ending $ (44,200,149) $ 2,722,554 $ 2,066,023 $ (39,411,572) $ (37,839,522)

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2014
(with summarized financial information for the year ended June 30, 2013)

2014 2013
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Change in net assets $ (1,572,050) 19,784,854
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash (used in)
provided by operating activities:
Amortization of deferred lease incentives (706,483) (687,030)
Amortization of deferred lease obligations 484,537 1,176,786
Depreciation and amortization 1,773,755 2,330,440
Contributed software 5,993,235 (5,993,235)
Realized and unrealized gain on investments (396,768) (246,595)
Loss on disposal of assets - 24,238
Accrued pension liability and postretirement health
and benefits cost (benefit) 1,170,257 (9,168,239)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables from grants and
governmental contracts (9,629,713) (4,130,908)
Decrease in deferred charges and other assets 31,908 144,467
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (58,779) (298,472)
Increase in accrued payroll and other
employee expenses 1,398,860 1,710,572
Decrease in program advances (1,783,339) (300,619)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (3,294,580) 4,346,259
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,135,354 988,646
Purchase of investments (1,167,139) (1,017,593)
Purchases of property and equipment (479,267) (834,752)
Net cash used in investing activities (511,052) (863,699)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,805,632) 3,482,560
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Beginning 37,191,294 33,708,734
Ending $ 33,385,662 37,191,294

Supplemental Information of Noncash Investing Activities
Leasehold improvement provided by landlord $ 261,540

See Notes to Financial Statements



The Legal Aid Society

Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1. Organization

The Legal Aid Society (the Society) is a not-for-profit corporation founded in 1876 that provides legal
services to the indigent of New York City through a number of operating practices. The Criminal Defense
practice, which provides the majority of trial level public defender services in New York City, as well as the
Criminal Appeals and Parole Revocation programs, are financed through contracts with the City and the
State of New York. The Juvenile Rights practice is financed principally through a contract with the Office
of Court Administration of the State of New York. The Civil practice relies on contracts with agencies of
the City and the State of New York and the federal government, as well as on financial support from the
public, including foundations, law firms, corporations and individuals.

Although the Society is not a governmental institution, it receives significant program revenue and other
support through government contracts that are entered into on a periodic basis and are cancelable at any
time. As a general rule, those contracts provide revenue to cover cash expenses of funded programs.

In its fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 (FY14), the Society had a negative cash flow of $3.8 million and
recognized an unrestricted operating surplus of $6.7 million.

The Society’s statement of financial position at June 30, 2014, shows cash and cash equivalents of
$33.4 million, and working capital (excess of current assets over current liabilities) of $21.3 million. It also
shows a net asset deficiency (excess of total liabilities over total assets) of $39.4 million, an increase of
$1.6 million from June 30, 2013. The net asset deficiency results from the actuarial determinations of (i)
the future benefit obligations under the Society’s “frozen” defined benefit pension plan which, like many
such plans around the country, is underfunded due to the current low interest rate environment and (ii)
the future obligations of the Society to pay postretirement health and benefit costs that incorporate
projected short-term trends in healthcare cost increases that are expected to level off in the future.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting: The financial statements of the Society have been prepared on the accrual basis.
In the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities are presented in order of liquidity or conversion
to cash and their maturity resulting in the use of cash, respectively.

Financial statement presentation: The classification of a not-for-profit organization's net assets and its
support and revenue is based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. The amounts
for each of three classes of net assets - unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently restricted -
are required to be shown in a statement of financial position and the amounts of change in each of those
classes of net assets be displayed in a statement of activities.

The net assets of the Society and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

(i)  Unrestricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the
Society is not subject to donor restrictions. Unrestricted amounts may be designated by the board of
directors to cover any purposes determined by the Society.

(i)  Temporarily restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use
by the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by passage of time or can
be fulfilled and removed by actions of the Society pursuant to those stipulations. When such
stipulations end or are fulfilled, such temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted
net assets and reported in the statement of activities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(iii) Permanently restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose
use by the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor
can be fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the Society.

Use of estimates: In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the reported period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Society considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents,
except for such investments purchased by the Society's investment managers as part of their long-term
investment strategies.

Collectability of receivables: All receivables are collectible within one year.

Investments: Investments in equity and debt securities are stated at their fair values. Investment return
is allocated among unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets, based on donor restrictions or the
absence thereof. Interest, dividends, and net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments are
included in investment return in the statement of activities.

Fair value: The Society follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 820-10, Fair Value Measurements, which provides a framework for measuring fair
value under generally accepted accounting principles and applies to all financial instruments that are
being measured and reported on a fair value basis. Accordingly, the Society classifies all its investments
as Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3, depending on whether they can be valued by reference to published
market prices. All of the Society’s investments at June 30, 2014 are classified as Level 1 because they all
could be valued by reference to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

Property and equipment: Purchases of property and equipment in excess of $10,000 per unit are
capitalized. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method and
charged to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging primarily from three to ten
years. Property and equipment acquired with certain government contract funds are recognized as
expenses pursuant to the terms of the contract in which the government funding source retains
ownership of the property.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the
lease, whichever is shorter.

Gifts of long-lived assets received without stipulations about how long the donated assets must be used
are reported as support that expires over the useful life of the donated asset.

Program advances: Program advances represent advances from third parties for services not yet
performed as well as funds received from government agencies in which the funds have been allocated
with the agency’s agreement to cover future expenditures.

Court awards: Funds are awarded by the courts to the Society in certain non-Legal Aid cases in which
there are remaining class action settlement funds. The amount of such awards in any given year cannot
be estimated in advance because these awards are dependent on whether there are such residual
settlement funds in particular cases and whether the Society is designated as a recipient. Therefore, such
revenue is recognized upon receipt.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue and support: Contracts awarded by governmental agencies are recognized as revenue in the
unrestricted net asset class as the related services are performed.

The Society records as revenue the following types of contributions when they are received
unconditionally, at fair value: cash, promises to give, certain contributed services and gifts of long-lived
assets and other assets. Conditional contributions, including cost reimbursement grants, are recognized
as support when the conditions on which they depend have been substantially met.

e Contributions and promises to give are recorded as revenue when either cash is received or
when donors make an enforceable promise to give. Contributions and promises to give are
classified either as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support, based
on the donor's intent.

e Contributed services provided by attorneys on a pro bono basis are recorded as revenue and
expenses at fair value, based on the attorneys' average billing rates.

A number of individuals have made a contribution of their time to serve on the Society's board of
directors. The value of their contributed time is not reflected in the financial statements.

Tax-exempt status: The Society is qualified as a Section 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization under
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the IRC) and, accordingly, is not subject to federal income
taxes. As a not-for-profit organization, the Society is also exempt from New York State and New York City
sales and income taxes. The Society has been classified as a publicly supported charitable organization
under Section 509(a)(1) of the IRC and qualifies for the maximum charitable contribution deduction for
donors.

Management evaluated the Society’s income tax positions and concluded that the Society had taken no
uncertain income tax positions that require adjustments or disclosures to the financial statements.
Generally, the Society is not subject to income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or local tax
authorities for years before 2011, which is the standard statute of limitations look-back period.

Functional allocation of expenses: The costs of providing the various programs and other activities
have been summarized in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated to
the programs and supporting services benefited.

Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments which potentially subject the Society to a
concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. At various times, the Society
has cash deposits at financial institutions that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
insurance limits. The Society has not experienced any losses on these accounts.

Prior-year summarized comparative information: The accompanying financial statements include
certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total, but not by net asset class or functional
expense classification. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly,
such information should be read in conjunction with the Society's financial statements for the year ended
June 30, 2013, from which the summarized information was derived.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Reclassifications: Certain 2013 balances have been reclassified to conform with the 2014 financial
statement presentation. Donated software with a fair value of approximately $6 million included in 2013
property and equipment balance on the statement of financial position was reclassified to deferred
charges and other assets. The individual items were below the capitalization threshold and were
expensed when the software was installed during the year ended June 30, 2014. The reclassifications
had no effect on the 2013 total assets, total liabilities, total net assets or change in net assets.

Subsequent events: The Society evaluates events occurring after the date of the financial statements to
consider whether or not the impact of such events needs to be reflected or disclosed in the financial
statements. Such evaluation is performed through the date the financial statements are available for
issuance, which was October 20, 2014 for these financial statements.

Note 3. Investments
The fair value of the Society's endowment investments consists of the following:

2014 2013
Cash equivalents $ 135,840 § 142,899
Mutual funds 3,307,607 2,871,995

$ 3,443447 § 3,014,894

The return on endowment and other investments shown in the accompanying statement of activities
consists of the following:

2014 2013
Interest and dividends $ 111,245  § 111,343
Realized gain 83,582 75,445
Unrealized gain 313,186 171,150
Investment fees (19,349) (17,766)

$ 488664 $ 340,172

The Society's investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013 were held at one financial institution.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note 4. Fair Value

The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values.
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following
three categories:

Level 1 Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets,
such as the New York Stock Exchange.

Level 2 Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be
corroborated by observable market data. Level 2 also includes derivative contracts
whose value is determined using a pricing model with observable market inputs or can
be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments
whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies,
or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value
requires significant management judgment or estimation; Level 3 also includes
observable inputs for nonbinding single-dealer quotes not corroborated by observable
market data.

Investments and commercial paper stated at fair value at June 30 are as follows:

Fair Value Using Quoted
Prices in Active Markets for
Identical Assets (All Level 1)

2014 2013
Cash equivalents $ 135,840 $ 142,899
Mutual funds
U.S. large-cap equities 908,200 797,418
U.S. mid-cap/small-cap equities 234,952 194,810
International equities 1,106,286 781,834
Core fixed income securities 1,058,169 945,206
Satellite fixed income securities - 152,727
Subtotal - investments 3,443,447 3,014,894
Commercial paper® 21,600,000 20,000,000
Total $ 25,043,447 $ 23,014,894

(a) Commercial paper is classified as a cash equivalent on the statement of financial position.
Mutual funds are valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the Society at year-end.
Commercial paper is a short-term unsecured promissory note issued by creditworthy corporations and

banks. It earns competitive, market-determined yields/rates and is traded on all major exchanges. The
commercial paper was issued by the financial institution at June 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Note 5. Contributions

Contributions consisted of the following for each fiscal year:

2014 2013
Contributions $ 10,911,213 $ 10,835,894
Benefits and special events 3,651,895 3,236,650
Bequests 52,545 13,000
14,615,653 14,085,544
Less related direct expenses (309,859) (321,605)

$ 14,305,794 $ 13,763,939

Note 6. Property and Equipment

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are summarized as follows:

2014 2013
Property and leasehold improvements $ 14,573,872 $ 13,886,471
Furniture and equipment 3,861,561 3,861,561
Computer and technology 5,683,753 5,674,006
Mobile outreach van 146,936 146,936
24,266,122 23,568,974
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (19,780,763) (18,050,667)

$ 4485359 $ 5,518,307

Note 7. Commitments

As of June 30, 2014, annual future minimum lease payments, which exclude payments based on pass-

through expenses and escalations under non-cancelable operating leases for all of the Society's facilities,
are approximately as follows:

Year Ending June 30,

2015 $ 13,700,000
2016 13,900,000
2017 14,000,000
2018 12,500,000
2019 11,800,000
Thereafter 70,000,000

$ 135,900,000

n
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Note 7. Commitments (Continued)

Several leases for office space contain escalation clauses related to the lessor's real estate taxes, utilities
and other building operating expenses. During fiscal 2014, the Society recognized increased occupancy
expenses for additional space taken within several locations. The rental expense was approximately
$12,991,000 and $12,408,000 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In 2004, the Society received net incentives from certain landlords of approximately $12,692,000 for the
purchase of furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements, which is included in deferred lease
obligations and lease incentives in the accompanying statement of financial position and is being
amortized over 20 years, the term of the respective leases.

Note 8. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets are recorded throughout the course of the year on the statement of
activities. Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes at June 30:

2014 2013
Civil Practice $ 570,578 $ 677,318
Juvenile Rights Practice 456,988 273,328
Criminal Defense Practice 91,497 225,848
Endowment interest 1,377,424 948,871
Other 226,067 264,785

$ 2,722,554 § 2,390,150

The total of these net assets released from restriction due to satisfaction of time and purpose restrictions
amounted to $4,262,027 and $4,110,478 during the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets

The Society's endowment consists of 14 individual funds established for a variety of purposes. The
endowments include only donor-restricted endowment funds. The Society's board of directors interprets
the New York law as requiring that the Society classify the original value of gifts donated to the
permanent endowment as permanently restricted net assets. Earnings on donor-restricted funds are
classified separately as temporarily restricted net assets, until those amounts are appropriated for
expenditure by the Society in a manner consistent with its spending policies pursuant to the donor
restrictions.

The board of directors has delegated authority to its Finance Committee to invest the endowment assets
with the objective of achieving capital growth and income stability. On an annual basis and consistent with
its spending policy, the Society decides whether to appropriate endowment funds for expenditure as part
of its annual budgeting process. There were no appropriations in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2014
and 2013.

On a quarterly basis, the Finance Committee monitors the performance of the qualified investment
professionals, the performance of the endowment and the objectives for and use of the earnings on the
endowment to ensure that these are consistent with the directions of the donors and the mission of the
Society. At least once a year, the Finance Committee reports to the board on these issues.
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Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets (Continued)

Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013 and 2014 consist of:

Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2012 $ 673,329 $ 2,066,023 $ 2,739,352
Investment return

Investment gain 275,542 - 275,542

Total investment return 275,542 - 275,542

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2013 948,871 2,066,023 3,014,894
Investment return

Investment gain 428,553 - 428,553

Total investment return 428,553 - 428,553

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2014 $ 1,377,424 $ 2,066,023 $ 3,443,447

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans

All current employees of the Society are covered either by a defined contribution plan or by a multi-
employer pension plan. In addition, certain current management and nonunion employees who began
their employment with the Society prior to December 1, 2004 are covered by the Society's retirement plan
(the Retirement Plan), a defined benefit plan.

Benefits under the Retirement Plan are generally based upon years of service and the salary of the
employee. The assets of the Retirement Plan consist primarily of mutual funds. Effective July 1, 1999, the
Society amended its Retirement Plan to include a cash balance feature and a lump-sum option. On
November 30, 2004, the Society froze the accumulation of Retirement Plan benefits as part of its financial
restructuring. The Retirement Plan was replaced by a defined contribution plan effective December 1,
2004.

Because of the underfunding due to the economic downturn and based on funding requirements, the
payment to the Retirement Plan was approximately $5,931,000 in fiscal year 2014. The Society expects
to contribute approximately $2,387,000 in fiscal year 2015.

The Society made a contribution to the defined contribution plan for nonunion employees of
approximately $1,928,000 and $1,801,000 in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement that covers a number of its employees, the Society made
contributions related to the Service Employees International Union, Local 1199 pension fund, which is a
national multi-employer pension plan, of approximately $2,172,000 and $1,923,000 in fiscal 2014 and
2013, respectively.

13
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

The risks of participating in a multiemployer plan are different from single employer plans in the following
respects:

(a) Assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to
employees of other participating employers.

(b) If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may
be borne by the remaining participating employers.

(c) If the Society stops participating in the multiemployer plan, and continues in business, The
Society could be required to pay an amount, referred to as withdrawal liability, based on the
unfunded status of the plan.

The legal name of the pension fund is 1199SEIU Health Care Employees Pension Fund. The
EIN/Pension Plan Number is 13-3604862/001. The most recent Pension Protection Act (PPA) zone status
available in 2013, 2012 and 2011 are for the plan's year-end at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. For each of these years, the plan’s PPA zone status is “Green Zone”. The zone status is
based on information that the Society received from the plan and is certified by the plan's actuary.

Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the yellow
zone are less than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. The
funded percentages for these years are 91.7%, 89.6% and 97.6%, respectively. The expiration date of the
collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions is September 30, 2014. There is no funding
improvement plan or rehabilitation plan that has been implemented or pending.

The Society’s participation in the plan for the annual period ended December 31, 2013, is outlined in the
table below.

Employer Greater Than
Year Contributions 5% of Total
2013 $ 1,923,020 No
2012 1,617,861 No
2011 1,333,284 No

Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, the Society made contributions related to the Association
of Legal Aid Attorneys defined contribution plan, which covers unionized staff attorneys, of $4,647,000
and $4,548,000 in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The Society also has other postretirement benefits plans covering substantially all its employees. The
Society funds its postretirement benefits other than pensions on a pay-as-you-go basis. Such benefits
consist of medical, dental, and vision premiums.
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

In addition, the Society accounts for long-term disability benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 712,
Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits. The costs recognized for long-term disability premiums in fiscal
years 2014 and 2013 amounted to approximately $573,000 and $454,000, respectively. The
corresponding costs recognized for the change in the long-term benefit obligation for healthcare in fiscal
2014 and 2013 is $679,000 and $617,000, respectively.

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation at
beginning of year $ 77,980,201 $ 82,842,110 $ 23,174,909 $ 25,560,671
Service cost - - 751,358 801,945
Interest cost 3,313,044 3,134,889 1,202,868 1,073,623
Plan participants' contributions - - 62,786 59,830
Actuarial (gain) loss 4,521,758 (2,989,721) 4,248,392 (3,817,033)
Benefits paid (4,001,614) (5,007,077) (611,700) (504,127)

Benefit obligation at

end of year 81,813,389 77,980,201 28,828,613 23,174,909

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year 51,137,030 49,216,462 - -
Actual return on plan assets 6,952,747 4,962,426 - -
Employer contributions 5,931,203 2,518,213 548,914 444 297
Plan participants' contributions - - 62,786 59,830
Benefits paid (4,001,614) (5,007,077) (611,700) (504,127)
Expenses paid (565,701) (552,994) - -

Fair value of plan assets

at end of year 59,453,665 51,137,030 - -

Funded status at end of year $ (22,359,724) $ (26,843,171)  $ (28,828,613) $ (23,174,909)
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
June 30 2014 2013 2014 2013

Amounts Recognized as Liabilities
in the Statement of Financial Position $(22,359,724) $(26,843,171) $ 28,828,613 $(23,174,909)

Amounts Recognized as Cumulative
Changes in Pension and Other
Postretirement Costs Other
Than Net Periodic Costs:

Prior service credit $ -9 - $ 207,359 $ (184,015)
Net actuarial loss 30,294,183 32,118,463 9,467,113 5,472,756
Net amount recognized $ 30,294,183 $ 32,118,463 $ 9,674,472 § 5,288,741

Components of Net Benefit Cost
Components of net periodic
benefit cost:

Service $ - 9 - % 751,358 $ 801,945
Expense 610,000 630,000 - -
Interest 3,313,044 3,134,889 1,202,868 1,073,623
Expected return on plan assets (3,747,381) (4,058,523) - -
Amortization of prior service cost - - (391,374) (425,185)
Amortization of losses 3,096,373 3,298,497 254,035 350,187

Net periodic cost 3,272,036 3,004,863 1,816,887 1,800,570

Changes in Pension and
Postretirement Costs Other Than
Net Periodic Costs

Prior service cost - - 391,374 425,185
Net (gain) loss (1,824,280) (7,269,127) 3,994,357 (4,167,220)
Net other than periodic cost (1,824,280) (7,269,127) 4,385,731 (3,742,035)
Net benefit (credit) cost $ 1447756 $ (4,264,264) $ 6,202,618 $ (1,941,465)
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Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligations at June 30:

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 4.00% 4.45% 4.60% 5.05%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost at June 30:

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 4.45% 3.95% 5.05% 4.55%
Expected return on plan assets 7.75% 8.00% N/A N/A

The assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the
healthcare plans. For measurement purposes, the assumed rates for future increases in healthcare is
8.0%, which is based on national trends, is 8.0% in 2015 and was 8.0% in 2014. The 8.0% rate in 2015 is
expected to gradually decline to 4.5% in 2023.

The effect of a one-percentage-point change in the healthcare cost trend rate on the year-end
postretirement health benefit obligation and total service and interest cost components for the year ended
June 30, 2014 is as follows:

One- One-
Percentage- Percentage-
Point Point
Decrease Increase
Year-end postretirement health benefit obligation $ (4,784,000) $ 6,381,000
Total of service and interest cost components (356,000) 490,000

The following benefit payments which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be
paid as follows:

Postretirement

Retirement Health
Year ending June 30, Plan Benefits Benefits
2015 $ 6,797,449 § 610,000
2016 6,574,108 678,000
2017 6,557,558 772,000
2018 6,523,006 846,000
2019 6,230,639 935,000

2020 - 2024 26,794,420 5,969,000
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The Society has adopted a policy for the investment of the assets of the Retirement Plan, which is
administered by, and may be altered by, the Retirement and Benefits Committee of the Society’s board of
directors. The investment policy has been established to consider both the current and projected financial
requirements of the Retirement Plan. The Retirement Plan relies on a total return strategy in which
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current
yield (interest and dividends). The Retirement Plan uses a balanced asset allocation including both
equity-based and fixed income investments to achieve its long-term objectives. Those objectives are:

K Maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk of loss of principal.

K Maintain sufficient liquidity to meet benefits payment obligations on a timely basis.

The portfolio approach for the Retirement Plan is to maintain a balance of approximately 60% in equities
and 40% in fixed income. Equity securities include investments in mutual funds invested in large-, mid-,
and small-cap companies located in the United States and internationally. Fixed income securities are
comprised of mutual funds invested in low-risk interest-bearing investments.

The fair value of the Retirement Plan's investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013 (all of which are Level 1 —
see Note 2), by asset category, are as follows:

Fair Value Using Quoted Prices
in Active Markets for

Identical Assets (All Level 1) % %
2014 2013 2014 2013
Cash Equivalents $ 5,153,048 $ 1,624,287 8.7% 3.2%
Mutual Funds
Large-cap 18,599,479 17,574,624 31.3% 34.4%
Mid-cap 3,509,706 3,433,562 5.9% 6.7%
Small-cap 2,231,241 2,111,427 3.8% 4.1%
International 5,175,738 2,842,481 8.7% 5.6%
Emerging markets 4,176,789 4,393,588 7.0% 8.6%
Equity REITs 900,476 1,190,801 1.5% 2.3%
Indexed trust fund 576,636 329,560 1.0% 0.6%
Fixed income 19,130,552 17,636,700 32.2% 34.5%
$ 59,453,665 $ 51,137,030 100.0% 100.0%

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.
Mutual Funds: Valued at the net asset value held by the Retirement Plan at year-end.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan believes that its valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other market participants, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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Note 11. Contingencies

There are a number of pending legal actions against the Society which, in the opinion of management,
will not result in material loss to the Society and no amounts have been accrued in the accompanying
financial statements for such contingency.

Certain grants and contracts are currently subject to and may be subject to audit by the funding sources.
Such audits might result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the
opinion that such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial
statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for
such potential claims.
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